# Baryogenesis and first-order QCD transition with gravitational waves from a large lepton asymmetry

# Fei Gao,<sup>a</sup> Julia Harz,<sup>b</sup> Chandan Hati,<sup>c</sup> Yi Lu,<sup>d</sup> Isabel M. Oldengott,<sup>e,f</sup> Graham White<sup>g</sup>

<sup>a</sup>School of Physics, Beijing Institute of Technology, 100081 Beijing, China

- <sup>b</sup>PRISMA<sup>+</sup> Cluster of Excellence & Mainz Institute for Theoretical Physics, FB 08 Physics, Mathematics and Computer Science, Johannes Gutenberg-Universität Mainz, 55099 Mainz, Germany
- <sup>c</sup>Instituto de Física Corpuscular (IFIC), Universitat de València-CSIC, C/ Catedratico Jose Beltran, 2. E-46980 Valencia. Spain
- <sup>d</sup>Department of Physics and State Key Laboratory of Nuclear Physics and Technology, Peking University, Beijing 100871, China
- <sup>e</sup>Centre for Cosmology, Particle Physics and Phenomenology, Université catholique de Louvain, Chemin du cyclotron, 2, Louvain-la-Neuve B-1348, Belgium
- <sup>f</sup> Fakultät für Physik, Bielefeld University, D-33501 Bielefeld, Germany
- <sup>g</sup>School of Physics and Astronomy, University of Southampton, Southampton SO17 1BJ, United Kingdom

*E-mail:* fei.gao@bit.edu.cn, julia.harz@uni-mainz.de, chandan@ific.uv.es, qwertylou@pku.edu.cn, ioldengott@physik.uni-bielefeld.de, g.a.white@soton.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: A large primordial lepton asymmetry can lead to successful baryogenesis by preventing the restoration of electroweak symmetry at high temperatures, thereby suppressing the sphaleron rate. This asymmetry can also lead to a first-order cosmic QCD transition, accompanied by detectable gravitational wave (GW) signals. By employing next-to-leading order dimensional reduction we determine that the necessary lepton asymmetry is approximately one order of magnitude smaller than previously estimated. Incorporating an updated QCD equation of state that harmonizes lattice and functional QCD outcomes, we pinpoint the range of lepton flavor asymmetries capable of inducing a first-order cosmic QCD transition. To maintain consistency with observational constraints from the Cosmic Microwave Background and Big Bang Nucleosynthesis, achieving the correct baryon asymmetry requires entropy dilution by approximately a factor of ten. However, the first-order QCD transition itself can occur independently of entropy dilution. We propose that the sphaleron freeze-in mechanism can be investigated through forthcoming GW experiments such as  $\mu$ Ares.

# Contents

1	Introduction			
<b>2</b>	The lepton asymmetry of our Universe			
	2.1	BBN and CMB bounds on lepton asymmetry	4	
	2.2	Hypermagnetic fields	5	
3	Symmetry non-restoration and sphaleron freeze-in			
	3.1	The perturbative approach and motivation to go beyond	6	
	3.2	Standard Model effective potential at finite lepton asymmetry using dimen- sional reduction	7	
	3.3	Sphaleron freeze-in baryogenesis and generation of a large lepton asymmetry	12	
	3.4	Injection of large lepton asymmetry in the thermal bath	14	
	3.5	Late time entropy dilution	16	
4	Cosmic QCD epoch			
	4.1	Cosmic trajectory and state of the art	17	
	4.2	New functional QCD based method	19	
	4.3	Scan of lepton flavor asymmetries inducing a first-order cosmic QCD transition	22	
	4.4	Lensing effect of QCD critical end point	24	
<b>5</b>	Gravitational waves			
	5.1	Basic expressions of the gravitational wave spectrum	26	
	5.2	Gravitational wave spectrum and detection prospects	27	
6	Conclusions		31	
A	Effe	ctive potential at finite chemical potential	33	
в	B Entropy dilution			
С	Note on equilibrium			
D	Matching Standard Model parameters to observables 4			

#### 1 Introduction

One of the biggest open puzzles of particle physics and cosmology is the origin of the matterantimatter asymmetry of the Universe. Measurements of primordial element abundances and the Cosmic Microwave Background (CMB) reveal that the Universe has a tiny asymmetry in baryons, at the order of  $\mathcal{O}(10^{-11})$ . According to the Standard Model (SM) of particle physics, this baryon asymmetry should however be smaller by many orders of magnitudes. Explaining the creation of the observed baryon asymmetry necessitates theories of baryogenesis and leptogenesis.

In standard cosmology (based on the most common baryogenesis via leptogenesis mechanisms) the lepton flavor asymmetries are assumed to be at the same order of magnitude as the baryon asymmetry. Large lepton asymmetries can however significantly alter the cosmic evolution at various epochs: they could induce hypermagnetic fields [1], change the decoupling of WIMPS [2], modify the sphaleron conversion rate [3–5], have an impact on the epoch of quantum chromodynamics (QCD) [6–10], change the production of primordial black holes [11, 12], modify the inflationary gravitational waves (GWs) spectrum [13], lead to the formation of a pion condensate in the early Universe [9, 12], impact oscillations between active and sterile neutrinos [14], change neutrino decoupling and the oscillations of active neutrinos [15–22], modify big bang nucleosynthesis (BBN) [23, 24] and the formation of the cosmic microwave background (CMB) [25].

Here, we study a scenario where large lepton flavor asymmetries themselves give rise to the observed value of the baryon asymmetry [3-5]. Due to the non-restoration of the electroweak symmetry, the sphaleron rate gets suppressed in the presence of sufficiently large lepton asymmetries. Therefore the existence of a large primordial lepton asymmetry can provide a mechanism of baryogenesis, where the observed small baryon asymmetry of the Universe is generated via conversion of a large lepton asymmetry, if the sphaleron conversion rate is sufficiently slow due to the electroweak symmetry non-restoration. We refer to this baryogenesis scenario as sphaleron freeze-in. While former works [5, 26] applied the perturbative effective potential for baryons and leptons, we here use the technique of dimensional reduction [27] to consistently take into account infrared divergences at finite temperature. Our calculations show that the necessary lepton asymmetries required for successful baryogenesis are an order of magnitude smaller than it was estimated before [28]. This improvement reduces the amount of entropy dilution required to produce the correct baryon asymmetry of the Universe, given the stringent constraints from Big Bang nucleosynthesis (BBN) and the cosmic microwave background (CMB) on the lepton asymmetry, which is predominantly stored in the form of Dirac neutrino flavour asymmetries at the time of CMB.

Interestingly, it was shown recently [10] that large lepton flavor asymmetries can also induce a first-order cosmic QCD transition. As a first-order phase transition is expected to be accompanied by the emission of gravitational waves (GWs), the new era of GW measurements would therefore allow to constrain the lepton asymmetries and potentially test the sphaleron freeze-in paradigm. The work of [10] is based on results from functional QCD, namely solutions of the Schwinger-Dyson equations within the so-called Rainbow-ladder truncation [29]. While Ref. [10] depicts the first proof-of-principle of the possibility of a first-order cosmic QCD transition induced by large lepton flavor asymmetries it was also mentioned in [10] that the location of the QCD critical end point (CEP) from the Rainbow-ladder truncation was not predicted accurately. However improved truncation schemes and using results from the functional renormalization group has now made it possible to predict the location of the CEP more accurately and consistently [30–32]. Very recently the thermodynamic quantities of QCD matter were calculated from an improved truncation scheme and by application of an Ising parameterization [33]. In comparison to the method applied in [10], this method is based on a more realistic position of the CEP and shows agreement with the results of lattice QCD at low chemical potentials. We here include the thermodynamic quantities calculated with the method of [33] into our calculation of the cosmic trajectory during the QCD epoch.

Our work addresses the following main questions: How large should the lepton asymmetries be in order to lead to successful baryogenesis via sphaleron freeze-in? Which values of the lepton asymmetries would induce a first-order cosmic QCD transition? How large is the expected GW signal from a first-order QCD transition? Finally, the main and all-embracing question is whether the sphaleron freeze-in mechanism is testable with future GW detectors.

The structure of this work is as follows: In sec. 2 we discuss current constraints on the lepton asymmetries. Sec. 3 is devoted to the sphaleron freeze-in mechanism and a discussion of an epoch of late-time entropy dilution which is needed for successful baryogenesis (consistent with observational constraints on the lepton asymmetries discussed in sec. 2). In sec. 4 we discuss the new functional QCD technique applied in this work and its impact on our calculations concerning the cosmic QCD epoch in the presence of large lepton asymmetries. Sec. 5 addresses the expected GWs from a first-order QCD transition and its detection prospects. We conclude in sec. 6.

# 2 The lepton asymmetry of our Universe

The baryon asymmetry of the Universe can be defined as

$$Y_B = \frac{n_B}{s} = \sum_i \frac{b_i n_i}{s} \,, \tag{2.1}$$

where the sum goes over all particle species carrying a baryon number, and s is the total entropy density of the Universe. Here,  $b_i$  denotes the baryon number and  $n_i$  the net number density (particle minus anti-particle) of particle species i. Note that we assume the neutrinos to be Dirac such that this definition can be applied. From measurements of primordial element abundances and the CMB, we know that  $Y_B = (8.70 \pm 0.06) \times 10^{-11}$  (inferred from [34]).

Analogously to the baryon asymmetry in Eq. (2.1), the lepton asymmetry can be defined as the sum over individual lepton flavor asymmetries  $Y_{L_{\alpha}}$ ,

$$Y_L = \sum_{\alpha} Y_{L_{\alpha}} = \sum_{\alpha} \frac{n_{\alpha} + n_{\nu_{\alpha}}}{s}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where  $\alpha = e, \mu, \tau$ . Note here the number density for neutrinos is taken also with the Fermi-Dirac distribution. The idea behind leptogenesis is to create an asymmetry in the leptonic sector which is converted to a baryon asymmetry via sphaleron processes. This then leads to the standard relation  $Y_B = -\frac{28}{51}Y_L$  [35], implying a lepton asymmetry at the same order of magnitude as the baryon asymmetry. However, this standard relation only holds under the assumption that sphaleron processes are sufficiently efficient. As we explicitly demonstrate in sec. 3, for large lepton asymmetries sphaleron processes get suppressed such that the observed baryon asymmetry could counter-intuitively also originate from large lepton asymmetries.

In the following, we discuss the constraints on the total lepton asymmetry  $Y_L$  as well as on the individual lepton flavor asymmetries  $Y_{L_{\alpha}}$ .

# 2.1 BBN and CMB bounds on lepton asymmetry

As a consequence of the electric charge neutrality of the Universe, today the asymmetry in charged leptons must compensate for the asymmetry in baryons.<sup>1</sup> Therefore, a large lepton asymmetry –if existent– would be stored exclusively in the electrically neutral neutrinos, i.e.

$$Y_{L_{\alpha}} \simeq \frac{n_{\nu_{\alpha}}}{s} \,. \tag{2.3}$$

Due to the extremely low energies of the relic neutrinos, direct detection of the cosmic neutrino background is not feasible at the moment and there are no direct constraints on the lepton flavor asymmetries  $Y_{L_{\alpha}}$ . Nevertheless, they are subject to indirect constraints from cosmological observations which we elaborate on in the following.

Lepton flavor asymmetries can in general impact the formation of primordial element abundances during Big Bang nucleosynthesis (BBN) and the formation of the cosmic microwave background (CMB) in two distinctive ways (e.g. [23, 25]): Firstly, the Hubble expansion rate is enhanced in the presence of lepton flavor asymmetries. This is usually parameterized in terms of an increase in the effective number of relativistic degrees of freedom  $N_{\rm eff}$  and has an impact on the neutron-to-proton ratio at the onset of BBN. Secondly, the weak interactions that determine the neutron-to-proton ratio also depend on the phase-space distribution of the electron neutrino [23]. Note that the first effect is neither sensitive to the sign nor the flavor of the lepton asymmetries, whereas the second effect exclusively depends on the electron neutrino asymmetry and its sign. Finally – while both effects impact the outcome of BBN – it is the second effect that dominates the production of <sup>4</sup>He. In other words, the <sup>4</sup>He abundance is primarily sensitive to the electron lepton asymmetry.

How exactly the observations of <sup>4</sup>He and  $N_{\text{eff}}$  translate into bounds on the lepton flavor asymmetries however strongly depends on the details of neutrino oscillations that become efficient around  $T \sim 10$  MeV.

It has first been shown in [15, 16] that neutrino oscillations tend to equilibrate the different flavor asymmetries: While the individual  $Y_{L_{\alpha}}$  can be initially very different, they approach

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Note that this holds after the annihilation of pions at  $T \sim 50$  MeV. As will be discussed in great detail in sec. 4.2, at earlier times the lepton asymmetry is stored both in charged as well as neutral leptons.

a common value during neutrino oscillations (thereby however conserving the total lepton asymmetry  $Y_L$ ). As elaborated in [17–19], if neutrino oscillations start sufficiently early before neutrino decoupling at  $T \sim 1$  MeV, the equilibration is almost perfect such that the final lepton flavor asymmetries are  $Y_{L_{\alpha}} \approx \frac{Y_L}{3}$ . Furthermore, in this case, the final neutrino momentum distributions are thermal, such that  $Y_{L_{\alpha}}$  and  $N_{\text{eff}}$  can be expressed in terms of neutrino chemical potentials  $\mu_{\nu_{\alpha}}$  (or more specifically  $\xi_{\nu_{\alpha}} = \mu_{\nu_{\alpha}}/T_{\nu}$  with  $T_{\nu}$  being the neutrino temperature), see e.g. [19, 36, 37] for the explicit relations. Under this assumption, the CMB analysis [36]<sup>2</sup> found  $\xi_{\nu} = -0.002^{+0.114}_{-0.111}$  (95% CL) or

$$|Y_{\nu}^{0}| < 1.2 \times 10^{-2} \Rightarrow |Y_{\nu_{e,\mu,\tau}}^{0}| < 4.0 \times 10^{-3}$$
 (perfect equilibration). (2.4)

As a large lepton asymmetry can be only stored in the electrically neutral neutrino sector due to the charge and isospin neutrality of the Universe, we can apply the above limit directly for our large lepton asymmetry and take  $Y_L \approx Y_{\nu}$ . It is crucial to note that the bounds on the individual  $Y_{L_{e,\mu,\tau}}$  in Eq. (2.4) are understood to apply only on their final values after the onset of neutrino oscillations. BBN and the CMB are hence only sensitive to the total lepton asymmetry  $Y_L$  and in principle the individual *initial* lepton flavor asymmetries  $Y_{L_{\alpha}}^{ini}$  can be much larger as long as their sum fulfills the bound on  $|Y_L|$  in Eq. (2.4).

Conceptually more difficult are scenarios, where equilibration is not perfect. As shown in [17-22], depending on the mixing angles (specifically the value of  $\sin^2 \theta_{13}$ ) as well as the mass hierarchy and also the initial asymmetries, neutrino oscillations are potentially happening too close to the time of neutrino decoupling such that equilibration is only partial and the neutrino distribution functions are not thermal any longer. In this case, the lepton flavor asymmetries cannot simply be expressed in terms of chemical potentials any longer and the analyses of [36, 37] are strictly speaking not valid. The latest analysis of [22, 38] (taking into account the full 3-flavor description and full mean-field and collision effects) however seems to imply that the approximation of full equilibration is justified, given the precision of nowadays BBN and CMB data.

Interestingly, very recently the EMPRESS survey [39] reported a measurement of the <sup>4</sup>He abundance which is lower by roughly 1  $\sigma$  compared to previous measurements. As reported in [39–42], this could be interpreted as a hint towards a positive asymmetry in the electron neutrino sector. However, since the difference between the new EMPRESS measurement and previous measurements is mainly driven by the new observation of only 5 extremely metal-poor galaxies (EMPG), we wait until future observations of EMPGs shed light on the current situation.

#### 2.2 Hypermagnetic fields

In [1] it has been noted that a large lepton flavor asymmetry above a temperature of  $10^6$  GeV can lead to chiral plasma instability, sourcing helical hypermagnetic fields. If such helical hypermagnetic fields survive until the electroweak symmetry breaks, then it can result in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The BBN analysis [37] as well assumes thermal neutrino spectra and  $Y_{\nu_{\alpha}} = \frac{Y_L}{3}$ .

a baryon number overproduction. This leads to a constraint  $|\xi_{\Delta\nu_{\alpha}}| < 0.004$ , which is even tighter than the BBN and CMB constraints. However, such a limit is not strictly applicable in the presence of additional symmetries such as a  $(\mu + \tau)$ -symmetry or if the asymmetry is generated below 10<sup>6</sup> GeV, therefore should be applied according to the injection time of the lepton asymmetry. We further note that the derivation of this constraint requires a restoration of the electroweak symmetry at high temperatures [43], which is not the case we are interested in. Therefore, this constraint is not applicable in our scenario.

# 3 Symmetry non-restoration and sphaleron freeze-in

The presence of a large (sizeable as compared to the entropy) background charge in the Universe can lead to the non-restoration of the electroweak symmetry at high temperatures. This can be understood from the fact that the Higgs boson condensate, responsible for the spontaneous breaking of the electroweak symmetry, not only depends on the temperature but also on the non-vanishing chemical potential of any fermionic species or in other words on the fermionic charge asymmetry. In this context, one of the main scenarios of interest is a large lepton charge asymmetry while maintaining the electric charge neutrality of the Universe [44]. A large lepton asymmetry can lead to the non-restauration of the electroweak symmetry, which leads in turn to an exponentially suppressed rate for sphalerons. As a consequence, the conversion of lepton asymmetry into baryon asymmetry happens extremely slowly, which is crucial in avoiding the overproduction of the baryon asymmetry. We will refer to this mechanism as "sphaleron freeze-in".

#### 3.1 The perturbative approach and motivation to go beyond

The impact of the finite lepton asymmetry on the thermodynamics of the electroweak theory has been discussed in [44–50] using perturbative loop calculations [51–55] for the effective potential showing that the critical temperature of the electroweak phase transition increases with increasing chemical potential. Large lepton asymmetry as an explanation of the absence of topological defects has been discussed in [26, 56, 57], while in [3–5] a large lepton asymmetry has been used to explain the observed baryon asymmetry of the Universe. These studies employ the perturbative effective potential at high temperature and finite chemical potentials of baryons and leptons given by [5, 26]

$$V_{\text{eff}} = \frac{\lambda}{4}v^4 + \frac{\lambda'}{2}T^2v^2 + \frac{g^2}{8}C^2v^2 + \frac{n_L^2}{T^2} + \frac{4n_L^2\left(3v^2 + 12C^2 + 14T^2\right)}{54C^2v^2 + (87v^2 + 96C^2)T^2 + 112T^4}, \quad (3.1)$$

where  $n_L$  denotes the total lepton asymmetry. Here, v is the vacuum expectation value for the CP-even neutral component of the SM Higgs field and  $C \equiv \langle A_1^1 \rangle$ , with  $A_{\mu}^a$  denoting the gauge potential corresponding to  $SU(2)_L$ . The coupling  $\lambda'$  is given by

$$\lambda' = \frac{1}{12} \left[ 6\lambda + y_{\tau}^2 + 3y_t^2 + 3y_b^2 + \frac{3}{4} \left( g'^2 + 3g^2 \right) \right], \qquad (3.2)$$

with  $\lambda$  indicating the tree-level quartic coupling,  $y_f$  the Yukawa couplings of the corresponding SM fermion f, g the gauge couplings of  $SU(2)_L$  and g' of  $U(1)_Y$ . From Eq. (3.1) it is straightforward to see that  $V_{\text{eff}}$  can be minimized as a function of v(T) and C(T) for given values of the lepton number density asymmetry  $n_L$ , see e.g. [5]. From such an estimate it is apparent that for the non-restoration of the electroweak symmetry, an asymmetry of order  $Y_L = n_L/s \sim 1$  is required. However, such a large lepton asymmetry is subject to several stringent constraints as we have discussed already (see Eq. 2.4).

While the perturbative calculations discussed above do provide a qualitative idea, such an approach is inconsistent due to the infrared divergences arising while integrating over the bosonic zero (static) modes in the path integrals [58]. A full prescription to deal with the infrared divergences at finite temperature was presented in [27], by matching the full 4-dimensional theory to an effective 3-dimensional theory, which can then be solved with lattice Monte Carlo methods [59–63]. This approach was further generalized to finite chemical potential in [64]. In what follows, we will adopt the prescription of [64] to compute the effective potential at finite temperature and finite chemical potentials which can be minimized numerically to solve for v(T)/T as a function of the lepton asymmetry. We will then combine these numerical results with an exact computation of the small-fluctuation determinant [65] to estimate the sphaleron freeze-in of the baryon asymmetry and to study the viability of a large lepton asymmetry as an explanation of the observed baryon asymmetry. We find that this approach significantly reduces the amount of the primordial asymmetry required for a successful baryogenesis scenario as compared to the previous predictions using the perturbative approach [28].

# 3.2 Standard Model effective potential at finite lepton asymmetry using dimensional reduction

Several methods exist to resum the theory such that the hard modes screen the infrared modes. One convenient method that automatically organizes perturbation theory is provided by dimensional reduction [27]. In the reduction of the full 4-dimensional theory to a 3-dimensional one, all the fermionic and bosonic modes with  $n \neq 0$  (*n* being the index of Fourier expansion of the fields into Matsubara modes) acquire a mass  $m \sim \pi T$  and they are referred to as superheavy modes. The temporal components of the gauge bosons acquire a mass  $m \sim gT$  and are referred to as heavy modes. The remaining fields with mass  $m \sim (g^2T)$  are referred to as light modes [27]. At high temperatures the perturbative expansion parameter  $\frac{g^2T}{E}$  becomes large for such light modes. This is in contrast to the other heavier modes (non-static modes with mass  $m \sim \pi T$  or static modes with |p| > gT) leading to a consistently small expansion parameter. In the dimensionally reduced theory, heavy Matsubara modes are integrated out to define an effective potential at a soft scale given by gT. The temporal component of the vector bosons acts as scalar fields with mass O(gT) at this scale and themselves can be integrated out to give an effective potential at an ultrasoft scale  $O(g^2T/\pi)$ . Resummation is included by construction due to the matching master formula [27] relating four-dimensional

fields  $\varphi$  to their three-dimensional counterparts  $\varphi_3$  at finite temperatures,

$$\varphi_3^2 = \frac{1}{T} \varphi^2 [1 + \bar{\Pi}'(0)], \qquad (3.3)$$

where  $\Pi$  is the self-energy, and the prime denotes the derivative of the self-energy w.r.t. external momentum. The renormalized 2-point Green's function for a light scalar field in full 4d theory of the form

$$k^{2} + m_{S}^{2} + \Pi(k^{2}) = k^{2} + m_{S}^{2} + \Pi_{3}(k^{2}) + \bar{\Pi}(k^{2}), \qquad (3.4)$$

is matched to the corresponding three-dimensional theory equivalent

$$k^2 + m_3^2 + \Pi_3(k^2), \qquad (3.5)$$

with  $\Pi_3(k^2)$  denoting the self-energy contribution due to light and the heavy modes only and  $\bar{\Pi}(k^2)$  denoting all other contributions involving super-heavy degrees of freedom. Since the super heavy modes can be integrated out without any IR problems,  $\bar{\Pi}(k^2)$  can be expanded in the external momenta in the limit  $k \ll T$  as

$$\bar{\Pi}(k^2) = \bar{\Pi}(0) + \bar{\Pi}'(0) k^2 + \mathcal{O}(g^2 \frac{k^4}{T^2}).$$
(3.6)

The corresponding masses are related up to order  $g^4$  via

$$m_3^2 = \left[m_S^2 + \bar{\Pi}(0)\right] \left[1 - \bar{\Pi}'(0)\right] \,. \tag{3.7}$$

We note that the 3d theory is by construction super-renormalizable, and the relationships between the 3d and 4d parameters are determined appropriately. For instance, the 4d couplings and masses are dependent on the 4d renormalization scale. However, the 3d couplings are related to the full 4d theory such that they are renormalization scale independent, while the scalar masses can have mass divergences, which can be renormalized by a 3d renormalization scale independent of the 4d renormalization scale. This is because the bare mass parameters produced via the dimensional reduction are 4d theory renormalization scale independent.

At finite density, however, the field renormalization that appears in the matching conditions of the two-point Green's functions between 4d and 3d theories become functions of the chemical potentials. This results in chemical potential dependent corrections to the finite temperature  $\mu = 0$  masses and couplings. Secondly, additional terms are induced due to the reduction of symmetries in the four-dimensional theories as compared to the  $\mu = 0$  finite temperature case. In particular, in the presence of non-vanishing chemical potentials, there are *C* violating (but *P* and *T* conserving) terms in the path integral which lead to additional terms in the dimensionally reduced effective field theory.

The electroweak theory at finite temperature can be expressed by the Euclidean action

$$S = \int_0^\beta d\tau \int d^3x \,\mathcal{L} \tag{3.8}$$

defined on a finite time interval  $0 < \tau < \beta \equiv \frac{1}{T}$ , where

$$\mathcal{L} = (D_{\mu}\Phi)^{\dagger}D_{\mu}\Phi - \nu^{2}\Phi^{\dagger}\Phi + \lambda(\Phi^{\dagger}\Phi)^{2} + \frac{1}{4}G^{a}_{\mu\nu}G^{a}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{4}F_{\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu} + \bar{l}_{L}\not{D}l_{L} + \bar{e}_{R}\not{D}e_{R} \quad (3.9)$$

Here  $q_L$  and  $l_L$  denote the  $SU(2)_L$  doublet quark and lepton fields.  $u_R$ ,  $d_R$  and  $e_R$  denote the  $SU(2)_L$  singlet right-handed quark and lepton fields.  $\Phi$  denotes the SM Higgs doublet with  $\tilde{\Phi} = i\tau^2 \Phi^*$ . The covariant derivative is defined as  $D_\mu \equiv \partial_\mu + IigA^a_\mu\tau^a + Yig'B_\mu$ , with I and Y denoting the isospin and hypercharge, respectively.  $g_Y$  is assumed to be nonzero only for the top quark. The field strength tensors are defined as  $G^a_{\mu\nu} \equiv \partial_\mu A^a_\nu - \partial_\nu A^a_\mu - g\epsilon^{abc}A^b_\mu A^c_\nu$ , and  $F_{\mu\nu} \equiv \partial_\mu B_\nu - \partial_\nu B_\mu$ , with  $A^a_\mu$  and  $B_\mu$  denoting the gauge fields corresponding to  $SU(2)_L$  and  $U(1)_Y$ . Considering all the conserved currents, the relevant partition function can be expressed as [48]

$$\mathcal{Z} = \operatorname{Tr} \exp\left(-\beta(H - \mu_i X_i - \mu_Y Q_Y - \mu_{T^3} Q_{T^3})\right)$$
(3.11)

$$\equiv \int \mathcal{D}\varphi \exp\left[-S + \int_0^\beta d\tau \left(\mu_B B + \sum_{i=1}^{n_f} \mu_{L_i} L_i\right)\right]$$
(3.12)

where  $\varphi$  corresponds to the set of all the fields and

$$S = S\left[\tilde{\varphi}, B_0 + \frac{i\mu_Y}{g'}, A_0^3 + \frac{i\mu_{T^3}}{g}\right]$$
(3.13)

$$\mu_B \equiv \frac{1}{n_f} \sum_{i=1}^{n_f} \mu_i, \quad \mu_{L_i} \equiv -\mu_i,$$
(3.14)

where  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is defined such that it excludes  $B_0$  and  $A_0^3$  from the set  $\varphi$ . The globally conserved currents corresponding to  $n_f$  flavors are defined as

$$X_i = \frac{1}{n_f} B - L_i, \quad i = 1 \dots n_f$$
 (3.15)

with the baryon and lepton number currents defined as

$$B = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{f,c} \int d^3 x \bar{q}_{c,f} \gamma_0 q_{c,f}; \qquad L_i = \int d^3 x \left( \bar{e}_i \gamma_0 e_i + \bar{\nu}_i \gamma_0 P_L \nu_i \right), \tag{3.16}$$

where  $P_L$  denotes the usual left-handed projection operator.

A 3-dimensional  $SU(2) \times U(1)$  invariant effective theory involving a fundamental scalar doublet (Higgs) and four adjoint scalars (corresponding to the temporal components of the gauge fields in the fundamental 4-dimensional theory) can first be obtained by integrating out the nonzero Matsubara modes. The general form for such an effective theory is given by the Lagrangian [64]

$$\mathcal{L}_{1} = \frac{1}{4} G_{ij}^{a} G_{ij}^{a} + \frac{1}{4} F_{ij} F_{ij} + (D_{i} \Phi)^{\dagger} D_{i} \Phi + m_{3}^{2} \Phi^{\dagger} \Phi + \lambda_{3} \left( \Phi^{\dagger} \Phi \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left( D_{i} A_{0}^{a} \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{2} m_{D}^{2} A_{0}^{a} A_{0}^{a}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4}\lambda_{A}A_{0}^{a}A_{0}^{a}A_{0}^{b}A_{0}^{b} + \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{i}B_{0})^{2} + \frac{1}{2}m_{D}^{\prime 2}B_{0}^{2} + h_{3}\Phi^{\dagger}\Phi A_{0}^{a}A_{0}^{a} + h_{3}^{\prime}\Phi^{\dagger}\Phi B_{0}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}g_{3}g_{3}^{\prime}B_{0}\Phi^{\dagger}A_{0}^{a}\tau^{a}\Phi + \alpha\epsilon_{ijk}\left(A_{i}^{a}G_{jk}^{a} - \frac{i}{3}g_{3}\epsilon^{abc}A_{i}^{a}A_{j}^{b}A_{k}^{c}\right) + \alpha^{\prime}\epsilon_{ijk}B_{i}F_{jk} + \kappa_{1}B_{0} + \rho\Phi^{\dagger}A_{0}^{a}\tau^{a}\Phi + \rho^{\prime}\Phi^{\dagger}\Phi B_{0} + \rho_{G}B_{0}A_{0}^{a}A_{0}^{a},$$

$$(3.17)$$

where the terms in the last two lines of Eq. (3.17) correspond to new CP and CPT violating contributions in the presence of finite chemical potential,  $D_i A_0^a = \partial_i A_0^a - g_3 \epsilon^{abc} A_i^b A_0^c$ . The relevant effective potential for the Higgs expectation value  $\varphi$  up to order  $\mathcal{O}(\varphi^4)$  is then given by [64]

$$V_{\text{eff}}(\varphi) = \frac{1}{2} \left( m_3^2 - \frac{1}{2\pi} h_3 m_D + \frac{h_3' \kappa_1^2}{m_D'^4} \right) \varphi^2 + \frac{1}{4} \left( \lambda_3 - \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{h_3^2}{m_D} - \frac{2h_3' \kappa_1^2}{m_D'^4} \left( \frac{h_3}{m_D^2} + \frac{h_3'}{m_D'^2} \right) \right) \varphi^4 - \frac{1}{32\pi} \left( 2g_3^3 + (g_3^2 + g_3'^2)^{3/2} \right) \varphi^3 \,.$$
(3.18)

To obtain Eq. (3.18), the contributions from the terms in Eq. (3.17) with the couplings  $\lambda_A$ and  $\rho$  are neglected since they follow the power counting rules  $\lambda_A \sim g^4$  and  $\rho_G \sim g^{7/2}$ , respectively, and therefore are small. The terms in Eq. (3.17) with the couplings  $\rho'$  and  $\rho_G$ are also neglected since the three-point vertices are negligible as compared to similar vertices induced by the four-point vertices  $\Phi^{\dagger}\Phi B_0^2$  and  $B_0\Phi^{\dagger}A_0^a\tau^a\Phi$  in combination with the term  $\kappa_1 B_0$ . The corrected Debye masses  $m_D$ ,  $m'_D$ , coupling constants  $\lambda_3$ ,  $h_3$ ,  $g_3$  and scalar mass parameter  $m_3^2$  as well as the coefficient  $\kappa_1$  of the new term in the effective theory due to the presence of a finite chemical potential can be found in [64], while the expressions for the above quantities as well as for  $h'_3 = {g'}_3^2/4$  for zero chemical potential (note that the self-coupling of the adjoint scalar does not receive any corrections due to the chemical potential) are given in [27]. In Appendix A we reiterate the full expressions that we use for our computations for easy reference.

We use the package SARAH [66] to calculate the evolution of running couplings matched at the Z-pole <sup>3</sup>. The RGEs we use are only functions of the numerically most important couplings  $\lambda, \mu^2, g_i, y_t$  whose values at the Z-pole are obtained from [67] (employing multiloop matching) and are tabulated in Appendix D. Special attention is also given to the top mass as described in Appendix D. This is due to the slow convergence of perturbation theory – both the Yukawa coupling and the strong couplings are  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ . We then minimize the 3d effective potential in Eq. (3.18) numerically. Given the tight constraints from the CMB and BBN, the maximal allowed  $Y_{\nu_e}$  will have neglible impact on our analysis such that we make the simplifying assumption of a vanishing  $Y_{\nu_e}$ , without any loss of generality. Using this approach, we first find a numerical interpolation of v(T)/T contours in the plane of  $Y_{\nu_{\mu}}$  and  $Y_{\nu_{\tau}}$ . In Fig. 1, we show a contour plot showing v(T)/T corresponding to the minimized

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Note that our conventions slightly differ from the original SARAH [66] convention in that the Higgs quartic is rescaled by a factor of 2 and the U(1) hypercharge gauge coupling constant is rescaled by a factor of  $\sqrt{5/3}$ .



Figure 1: v(T)/T contours in the plane of  $Y_{\nu\mu}$  and  $Y_{\nu\tau}$  obtained by minimizing the dimensionally reduced effective potential at finite temperature and chemical potential. To demonstrate the dependence of the result on the choice of regularization scale, we vary the regularization scale by a factor of five, showing the cases  $\mu_R = T$  (top-left) and  $\mu_R = 5T$  (top-right) for  $T_{\rm inj} = 1$  TeV. To demonstrate the dependence on the injection temperature, we show the cases  $T_{\rm inj} = 100$  TeV (bottom-left) and  $T_{\rm inj} = 500$  GeV (bottom right) with  $\mu_R = T$ . The region between the pink, blue, and orange pair of dashed lines indicates the allowed parameter space based on CMB and BBN constraints for the cases  $\Delta = 1$  (no entropy dilution),  $\Delta = 10$ , and  $\Delta = 25$ , respectively. See sections 3.3, 3.5 and appendix B for discussion on entropy dilution.

potential for the lepton asymmetry injection scale T = 1 TeV as a function of  $Y_{\nu\mu}$  and  $Y_{\nu\tau}$ , for two choices of regularization scale  $\mu_R$ , showing that our results are fairly regularization scale independent. Note that the potential we employ neglects two-loop effects. For further discussion regarding their impact we refer to Refs. [68, 69].

#### 3.3 Sphaleron freeze-in baryogenesis and generation of a large lepton asymmetry

To obtain an accurate estimate of the baryon asymmetry from a large lepton asymmetry, we combine our obtained  $\frac{v(T)}{T}$  by numerically minimizing the finite temperature potential with an exact computation of the determinant of small fluctuations around the sphaleron configuration of electroweak theory in the high temperature limit (denoted by  $\kappa$ , see below for definition), see e.g. [65], to estimate the sphaleron freeze-in rate. The sphaleron rate per unit of time is given by [65]

$$\Gamma_{\rm sph} = \frac{\omega_{-}}{2\pi T^3} \left(\frac{v^2}{T}\right)^3 \mathcal{N}_{\rm rot} \mathcal{V}_{\rm rot} \mathcal{N}_{\rm tr} \kappa e^{-\frac{4\pi v}{g_2 T} E_{\rm sph}} .$$
(3.19)

Here  $\omega_{-}$  is the negative-mode frequency dictating the rate of decay in small fluctuations around the sphaleron determined in the units of gv as a function of  $\lambda/g^2$ .  $E_{\rm sph}$  is an  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ number dependent on  $\lambda/g^2$ , determining the energy of the sphaleron in the units of  $4\pi v/g$ . The quantities  $\mathcal{N}_{\rm tr}$  and  $\mathcal{N}_{\rm rot}$  are normalization integrals relating the natural coordinates describing the translations and rotations of the sphaleron to canonical coordinates. The volume of rotation group is  $\mathcal{V}_{\rm rot} = 8\pi^2$ , and  $\kappa$ , the determinant of small fluctuations, is given by

$$\kappa = \operatorname{Im}\left[\frac{\operatorname{det}[\delta^2 S_{gf}/\delta\phi^2]_{\phi=\phi_{\operatorname{vac}}}\Delta_{\operatorname{FP},\phi=\phi_{\operatorname{sp}}}}{\operatorname{det}[\delta^2 S_{gf}/\delta\phi^2]_{\phi=\phi_{\operatorname{sp}}}\Delta_{\operatorname{FP},\phi=\phi_{\operatorname{vac}}}}\right],\tag{3.20}$$

which contains the Faeddeev-Popov determinant,  $\Delta_{FP,x}$ , where  $x \in \{sp, vac\}$  are the sphaleron and vacuum field configurations, respectively.

Physically,  $\kappa$ , measures the number of non-zero frequency modes available in the vicinity of the sphaleron relative to that of the perturbative vacuum. For the standard model these quantities, as well as ( $\mathcal{N}_{tr}, \mathcal{N}_{rot}$ ), and the negative frequency mode,  $\omega_{-}$  have been calculated as a function of  $\lambda/g^2$  [65]. Similarly, we take the sphaleron energy as a function of the same ratio from [70]. The final baryon asymmetry at  $T = T_{fin}$  generated via the sphaleron freeze-in can then be estimated as

$$Y_B^{\text{fin}} \equiv Y_B(T_{\text{fin}}) \simeq -\left(2H(T_{\text{fin}})\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{T_{\text{inj}}}^{T_{\text{fin}}} dT \frac{1}{\left(2H(T)\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{1}{2H(T)T} \Gamma_{\text{sph}}\left(v(T), T\right) Y_L^{\text{ini}}, \quad (3.21)$$

where H(T) denotes the Hubble rate and an initial lepton asymmetry  $Y_L^{\text{ini}}$  is assumed to be injected instantaneously into the thermal bath at  $T_{\text{inj}}$ , leading to a non-restoration of the electroweak symmetry. Utilizing the above prescription, we obtain the generated baryon asymmetry as a function of the initial lepton asymmetry distributed into lepton flavor asymmetries in  $\mu$ - and  $\tau$ -flavors  $(Y_{L_{\mu(\tau)}}^{\text{ini}})$ . Note that in the presence of flavor violating processes among  $\mu$ - and  $\tau$ -flavors there can further be corrections to the individual flavour asymmetries, which we assume to be negligible in our analysis <sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In addition, in the full chemical potential equilibration limit the charged lepton asymmetry will lead to a Higgs asymmetry, dictated by the total electric charge and third component of the isospin conservation of the universe. Such a Higgs asymmetry can induce secondary flavour asymmetries in leptons through the

In Fig. 2, we plot the contours for  $Y_B^{\text{fin}}/Y_B^{\text{obs}}$  in the  $Y_{L_{\mu(\tau)}}^{\text{ini}}$  plane, where  $Y_B^{\text{obs}}$  denotes the observed baryon asymmetry today. For the contours with  $Y_B^{\text{fin}}/Y_B^{\text{obs}} > 1$ , an entropy dilution, following the asymmetry generation, defined as  $\Delta \equiv Y_B^{\text{fin}}/Y_B^{\text{obs}} = Y_L^{\text{fin}}/Y_L \simeq Y_L^{\text{ini}}/Y_L$  (see the following sections and appendix for a more detailed discussion) is needed in order not to overproduce the baryon asymmetry of the Universe today. Further,  $Y_L$  denotes the lepton asymmetry today. The color-coded contours in Fig. 2 delineate the acceptable region capable of reproducing the correct observed baryon asymmetry. For instance, the darkest violet region represents the parameter space capable of producing the correct observed baryon asymmetry. Via sphaleron freeze-in for an entropy dilution of  $\Delta < 10$  following the electroweak phase transition and before BBN.

To demonstrate the dependence of the final result on the choice of regularization scale, we show the cases  $\mu = T$  on the top-left and  $\mu = 5T$  on the top-right figures, for a lepton asymmetry injection temperature of  $T_{inj} = 1$  TeV. As can be seen by comparing these figures, the final results are fairly regularization scale independent, thereby showing the robustness and reliability of our dimensional reduction based approach.

The parameter space for successful baryogenesis is also dependent on the temperature when the large lepton asymmetry is injected into the thermal bath. To show the dependence on the injection temperature in bottom-left and bottom-right we show the cases  $T_{inj} = 100 \text{ TeV}$  and  $T_{inj} = 500 \text{ GeV}$ , respectively. We note that the required total asymmetry (i.e. the absolute value of the sum of the asymmetries in two flavors) and the needed entropy dilution decreases with increasing injection temperature of the initial lepton asymmetry. Furthermore, as the injection temperature becomes higher, the parameter space providing the correct observed baryon asymmetry also becomes much more narrow with the differently colored regions shrinking very tightly together, as can be seen from the bottom-left figure.

Remarkably, our approach predicts a reduction by an order of magnitude in the required primordial lepton asymmetry necessary for successful baryogenesis compared to prior findings in the literature, such as Refs. [5, 26].

As mentioned already, the primordial asymmetry  $Y_{L_{\mu(\tau)}}^{\text{ini}}$  may experience an entropy dilution following the electroweak phase transition and before the BBN in the presence of entropy production as discussed in the following section and appendix **B**. We will refer to this as latetime entropy dilution. We find a minimum entropy dilution of  $\Delta_{\min} \sim \mathcal{O}(10)$  is required to reproduce the correct baryon symmetry. The needed entropy dilution shows a gradual dependence on the lepton asymmetry injection temperature as can be seen by comparing the bottom-left plot with the other ones Fig. 2, showing that the required entropy dilution goes down with the increasing lepton asymmetry injection temperature.

Note that the regions between the dashed pink, blue, and orange dashed lines represent the allowed parameter space that is in agreement with CMB and BBN constraints (assuming

Yukawa couplings in equilibrium. However, since the lepton asymmetries are dominantly stored in electric charge-neutral neutrinos (compared to charged leptons), we find the effect to be secondary and negligible. See also section 4.1 for some discussion on the chemical potential relations.

full equilibration among flavors during neutrino oscillations) for the scenarios of  $\Delta = 1$  (no entropy dilution),  $\Delta = 10$ , and  $\Delta = 25$ , respectively. A larger entropy dilution means that one can start with a larger lepton asymmetry which gets diluted by a factor of  $\Delta$  at some time after the injection of the asymmetry (see section 3.4) and before the CMB and BBN, such that the tight constraint on the individual flavours can be satisfied. As we have discussed in section 2.1, the neutrino oscillations equilibrate the neutrino flavour asymmetry shortly before the CMB and BBN. The perfect equilibration among the neutrino flavours provides the most realistic and tight constraints because of the stong constraint on the electron neutrino flavor from the BBN.

Naively, an ad-hoc large lepton asymmetry and the late-time entropy dilution might appear unrealistic. However, in the following we will discuss how these two ingredients can naturally occur without affecting the dynamics of the electroweak symmetry non-restoration considered above.

#### 3.4 Injection of large lepton asymmetry in the thermal bath

One of the main criteria for realizing the proposed scenario is to not create too large baryon asymmetry (same order as the lepton asymmetry) as the large lepton asymmetry is slowly accumulated over time. This is so, because if the sphalerons are in equilibrium and unsuppressed, then any slow means of accumulation of lepton symmetry (e.g. by conventional thermal leptogenesis) will result in the fast conversion of the lepton asymmetry into baryon asymmetry before enough lepton asymmetry can be generated to freeze-in the sphalerons. One of the most interesting scenarios is then provided by the case where some form of decoupled condensate capable of storing a large lepton number (to decay at a later time to populate the SM thermal bath) is formed. For instance, the large lepton asymmetry can be injected via a heavy species condensate, which is decoupled from the thermal bath initially. The thermalization of the lepton asymmetry must then happen instantaneously after the asymmetry injection, such that the large lepton asymmetry non-restores the electroweak symmetry as soon as it gets injected into the thermal bath, implying that the rate of sphalerons is always suppressed thereby avoiding the generation of a large baryon asymmetry through unsuppressed sphalerons.

This can be achieved, for instance utilizing the Affleck-Dine mechanism [71]. The minimal ingredients are an inflaton field ( $\psi$ ) and a decoupled scalar field ( $S: m_S >> T_{\rm th}$ , where  $T_{\rm th}$  is the thermal bath temperature) which provides a flat direction of the potential during inflation. S can either be capable of creating lepton number via CP-violating decays or alternatively, it can possess effective lepton number violating interactions which can lead to a portal for lepton asymmetry generation from a condensate of S fields. (i) The inflaton starts oscillating (when  $H \sim m_{\psi}$ ) and makes the Universe matter dominated. (ii) S starts oscillating when  $H \sim m_S < m_{\psi}$ ). (iii) The inflaton decays at  $t \sim (M_P^2/m_{\psi}^3)$  making the universe radiation dominated. (iv) The S condensate decays and generates directly a lepton asymmetry or via a lepton number violating portal after the Universe becomes radiation-dominated following the inflaton decay. (v) The lepton asymmetry is thermalized once the Hubble rate after inflation



Figure 2: The viable parameter space for successful baryogenesis via sphaleron freeze-in in the plane of  $Y_{\nu\mu}$  and  $Y_{\nu\tau}$  obtained using the dimensionally reduced effective potential at finite temperature and chemical potential (c.f. Fig.1) and employing the sphaleron rate computation using the fluctuation determinant. The different colored contours as indicated in the plot legend show the regions corresponding to different values of entropy dilution required to produce the correct observed baryon abundance today. The region between the pink, blue, and orange pair of dashed lines indicates the allowed parameter space based on CMB and BBN constraints for the cases  $\Delta = 1$  (no entropy dilution),  $\Delta = 10$ , and  $\Delta = 25$ , respectively. See the text and also section 3.5 and appendix B for more discussion on entropy dilution. To demonstrate the dependence of the result on the choice of regularization scale, we show the cases  $\mu = T$  on the top-left and  $\mu = 5T$  on the top-right, for the lepton asymmetry injection temperature  $T_{inj} = 1$  TeV. To show the dependence on the injection temperature in bottom-left and bottom right we show the cases  $T_{inj} = 100$  TeV and  $T_{inj} = 500$  GeV, respectively, setting  $\mu = T$ . We note that in the bottom-left plot the two dark bands result from the shrinking of the colored bands shown in the plot legend.

falls below the interaction rate of leptons produced. In supersymmetric theories, sneutrinos could be an example for S [72].

# 3.5 Late time entropy dilution

To produce the correct observed baryon asymmetry via the sphaleron freeze-in mechanism, late-time mild entropy dilution ( $\Delta \sim \mathcal{O}(10)$ ) must occur after the electroweak symmetry breaking and before the onset of neutrino oscillations and the BBN. However, it is important to note here that even in the absence of any entropy dilution the possibility of a first-order QCD phase transition with a potential gravitational wave signal remains a viable possibility (independent of whether a successful baryogenesis scenario can be realized or not).

To realize the entropy dilution, one of the basic possibilities is to employ again a latetime decaying state decoupled from the thermal bath which comes to dominate the energy density of the Universe at a late time (after the asymmetry generation and before the BBN) and then decay to produce a late time reheating leading to entropy dilution. We note that the possibility of entropy dilution mechanism accomplished by a second phase of inflation is also discussed in the literature [73, 74]. One of the well-discussed possibilities is the saxion associated with a Peccei-Quinn symmetry[5]. Many other naturally motivated candidates include e.g. long-lived moduli [75] (one of the major challenges of such scenarios being rather large entropy release in all species), gravitinos [76], curvatons [77], dilatons [78], *Q*-balls [79], etc.. In Appendix B we provide a detailed discussion and the relevant formulae regarding the dynamics of entropy dilution due to a late-time decaying state decoupled from the thermal bath for future model building purposes.

We want to emphasize that while our scenario does involve interesting and nontrivial cosmological model-building possibilities, the new physics beyond the SM invoked to realize the lepton asymmetry injection and late time entropy dilution can be very naturally decoupled from the SM sector realizing the sphaleron freeze-in mechanism.

# 4 Cosmic QCD epoch

The QCD phase diagram charts at which temperature T and chemical potential  $\mu$  baryonic matter exists in the form of either free quarks and gluons or in the form of hadrons. Lattice QCD calculations have revealed that at zero chemical potential, the transition between both phases happens smoothly, in terms of a cross-over. Due to the infamous sign problem, lattice QCD is however known to be only exact at vanishing chemical potential, leaving the QCD diagram at finite chemical potential unsettled. Remedy can be provided by continuum QCD methods – i.e. functional QCD (fQCD) methods including Dyson-Schwinger equations (DSEs) [80–83] as well as the functional renormalization group method [84, 85] – which predict the existence of a critical end point (CEP) that separates the QCD diagram into regions of crossovers and first-order transitions.

As the Universe expands and cools down, it follows a certain path in the QCD phase diagram, the so-called *cosmic trajectory*. Assuming a lepton asymmetry of the same order

of magnitude as the baryon asymmetry of our Universe  $(|Y_L| \sim Y_B)$ , the transition from the quark-gluon plasma to hadrons should happen at small chemical potentials which implies the cosmic QCD transition to be a cross-over. It has however been shown in a series of papers [6–10] that allowing for the possibility of a large lepton asymmetry,  $|Y_L| \gg Y_B$ , shifts the cosmic trajectory towards larger chemical potentials. In particular, the study of [10] revealed that large unequal lepton flavor asymmetries  $(Y_{L_{\alpha}} \neq \frac{Y_L}{3})$  can render the cosmic QCD transition to be a first-order transition.

#### 4.1 Cosmic trajectory and state of the art

In the following we briefly explain how the cosmic trajectory is calculated in general and summarize the two different methods of [8, 9] and [10] for the equation of state of QCD that we will compare to.

After the electroweak symmetry breaking (at around  $T \sim 100 \text{ GeV}$ ) and before the onset of neutrino oscillations (at around  $T \sim 10 \text{ MeV}$ ), the lepton number of individual flavors  $L_{\alpha}$ , the baryon number B and electric charge Q can be considered as conserved quantities (frozenout) in the absence of any B- or L- violating processes. A good approximation to study the evolution of the different charges is to assume that the Universe is an isolated system without any matter or energy exchange. Therefore, the total entropy of the thermal bath and particle numbers during the evolution are conserved. Now for the convenience of the computation, the entropy and number density are preferred, and one may define the ratio of these two quantities which then cancels the comoving volume from both and converts the ratio of the original conserved quantities to that of their density counterparts. In other words,  $Y_{L_{\alpha}}$ ,  $Y_B$ and  $Y_Q$  are conserved quantities. Note that this holds between the phase of entropy dilution (described in sec. 3.5 and B) and the onset of neutrino oscillations and irrespectively of the nature of the transition (i.e. either for a cross-over as well as for a first-order transition). The cosmic trajectory can be calculated from these five local conservation laws.

Weak interactions are effective until  $T \sim 1$  MeV and justify imposing equilibrium conditions at the timeframe of interest. In that case, each conserved charge is associated with a charge chemical potential, i.e.  $\mu_{L_{\alpha}}, \mu_B$  and  $\mu_Q$ , and the cosmic trajectory is simply the solution for  $(\mu_{L_{\alpha}}, \mu_B, \mu_Q)$  at different temperatures T that keeps  $Y_{L_{\alpha}}, Y_B$  and  $Y_Q$  constant<sup>5</sup>. Let us write out these five conservation laws explicitly,

$$Y_{L_{\alpha}} = \frac{n_{L_{\alpha}}}{s} = \frac{n_{\alpha} + n_{\nu_{\alpha}}}{s}, \quad \text{for } \alpha \in \{e, \mu, \tau\},$$

$$(4.1)$$

$$Y_B = \frac{n_B}{s} = \sum_i \frac{b_i n_i}{s}$$
, with  $b_i$  = baryon number of species i, (4.2)

$$Y_Q = 0 = \frac{n_q}{s} = \sum_i q_i n_i$$
, with  $q_i$  = electric charge of species i, (4.3)

where  $n_i$  denotes the net number density (particle minus anti-particle) of particle species i, and s is the total entropy density of the Universe. Each particle species on the RHS of Eqs. (4.1)-(4.3) can be described by a chemical potential  $\mu_i$  and a temperature  $T_i$ . Thermal equilibrium

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Out of equilibrium, one would instead have to perform a hydrodynamical simulation to find the solutions for  $n_B, n_{L_{\alpha}}$  and  $n_Q$ . This is often done in the context of heavy ion collisions.

implies  $T_i = T$  whereas chemical equilibrium implies relations between the chemical potentials of various particle species, e.g.  $\mu_u = \mu_c$  (where u and c stand for up and charm quark). Furthermore, the charge chemical potentials can, in turn, be related to the particle chemical potentials (see e.g. [7] or [86]), i.e.

$$\mu_{L_{\alpha}} = \mu_{\nu_{\alpha}},$$
  

$$\mu_{Q} = \mu_{u} - \mu_{d},$$
  

$$\mu_{B} = \mu_{u} + 2\mu_{d}.$$
(4.4)

From now on, we fix the baryon asymmetry to its observed value,  $Y_B = 8.70 \times 10^{-11}$  [34], and assume an electric charge neutral Universe by setting  $Y_Q = 0$ . This leaves us with three free input parameters, namely the lepton flavor asymmetries  $Y_{L_{\alpha}}$ . The cosmic trajectory is nothing but the solution for the charge chemical potentials ( $\mu_{L_{\alpha}}, \mu_Q, \mu_B$ ) which fulfill Eqs. (4.2)-(4.3) at temperatures T and given a choice of  $Y_{L_{\alpha}}$ .

To calculate the cosmic trajectory, we still have to impose expressions for the net number densities of the particle species and the total entropy density s on the RHS of Eqs. (4.2)-(4.3). The net number density both of leptons and photons are simply momentum integrals over the corresponding thermal distributions (i.e. Fermi-Dirac or Bose-Einstein distributions respectively). Modeling the QCD sector at temperatures around the QCD transition is however much more complicated since the particle picture is not appropriate due to long-range correlations. The treatment of the QCD sector is also exactly where the two methods of [8, 9] and [10] differ. Let us briefly summarize and compare the lattice QCD based method introduced in [8, 9] and the functional QCD based method introduced in [10].

The idea behind the method of [8, 9] is to apply different descriptions of QCD matter in three separate temperature regimes: At high temperatures, quarks and gluons are described as free particles, with [9] including corrections from perturbative QCD [87, 88]. At low temperatures, a hadron-resonance-gas (HRG) approximation is made, i.e. equilibrium distributions for hadrons are assumed. In the intermediate temperature regime, results from lattice QCD [89, 90] are applied: To some extent, the sign problem can be circumvented by performing a Taylor expansion of the QCD pressure around zero chemical potentials. At the second order, this introduces so-called susceptibilities which can be calculated on the lattice and through which all thermodynamic quantities (e.g. net number densities) can be expressed. The dotted lines in Fig. 3 show the cosmic trajectory projected onto the  $(\mu_B, T)$ plane for different choices of the total lepton asymmetry  $Y_L$ . Note that we here assumed equal lepton flavor asymmetries  $(Y_{L_{\alpha}} = \frac{Y_L}{3})$  simply to facilitate a direct comparison with the works of [8] and [10]. As can be seen in Fig. 3, the use of lattice susceptibilities smoothly connects the high T-phase of free quarks with the HRG at low T. As pointed out in [9], the downside of this method is however that the reliability of the Taylor expansion restricts it to relatively small values of the lepton asymmetries. In particular, as a consequence of the sign problem of lattice QCD this method does not allow to explore the possibility of a first-order cosmic QCD transition.



Figure 3: Cosmic trajectories projected onto the  $(\mu_B, T)$ -plane for different values of the lepton asymmetry  $Y_L$  (with  $Y_{L_{\alpha}} = \frac{Y_L}{3}$ ), for the three different methods described in sec. 4.1: (i) dotted lines and  $\bullet$ : the lattice QCD based method of [8, 9], at high T assuming a free quark gas including corrections form perturbative QCD, at intermediate T applying lattice QCD susceptibilities, at low T assuming a HRG approximation; (ii) dashed lines: the functional QCD based method of [10], applying the RL truncation; (iii) solid lines: the improved functional QCD based method, described in sec. 4.2.

An alternative method was provided by [10]. Instead of relying on lattice QCD, results from functional QCD methods are applied. In particular, at the time of publication of [10], solving the DSEs in the rainbow-ladder (RL) truncation [29, 83, 91] was the only QCD based method delivering not only a complete computation of the QCD phase diagram including the location of a CEP but also the thermodynamic quantities of QCD matter. Including those thermodynamic quantities in the calculation of the cosmic trajectory revealed for the first time that indeed sufficiently large lepton flavor asymmetries can induce a first-order cosmic QCD transition. The dashed lines in Fig. 3 show the cosmic trajectories derived from this second method. The direct comparison between both methods shows however that especially at low temperatures the functional QCD method of [10] does not reproduce the HRG limit.

# 4.2 New functional QCD based method

Very recently, the thermodynamic quantities have been calculated from the DSEs with an improved and easily accessed truncation scheme [33]. Details about the advances of [33]

over [29] are discussed in the next section sec. 4.2.1. We included the new results of [33] into our calculation of the cosmic trajectory and – as we discuss in section 4.2.2 – find a significantly improved agreement between the fQCD based method and the HRG limit.

#### 4.2.1 Improved equation of state of QCD

In general, the QCD equation of state (EoS) at finite temperature T and quark chemical potentials  $\boldsymbol{\mu} = \{\mu_q\}$  can be obtained from the logarithm of the partition function using standard thermodynamic relations,

$$\frac{P}{T^4} = \frac{1}{VT^3} \ln Z(T, V, \mu) , \qquad (4.5)$$

$$n_q = \frac{\partial P}{\partial \mu_q} \,, \tag{4.6}$$

$$s = \frac{\partial P}{\partial T} , \qquad (4.7)$$

$$\epsilon = -P + Ts + \mu_q n_q , \qquad (4.8)$$

where  $\epsilon$  denotes the total energy density of the Universe. The key elements to compute the number density are the dynamically generated mass of the quark and gluon background condensate  $A_0^a$ , which are the order parameters of the chiral and deconfinement phase transitions. In principle, they can be directly computed via the gap equation in functional methods under a certain truncation scheme for the DSEs. This has been the foundation of [10], where the thermodynamic quantities have been calculated for a wide range of chemical potentials and temperatures with the RL truncation [29]. The clear disadvantage of this method is unfortunately that the phase transition line derived with the RL truncation does not agree with the lattice results at low chemical potential. Remarkably, the improved truncation scheme of [30-32 leads to a cross-over temperature and phase transition line consistent with the findings of lattice QCD [92–94]. With this improved truncation the computation of the thermodynamic quantities over a range of chemical potentials and temperatures comparable to [10] however becomes computationally very expensive. Therefore, in this work we follow the approach of [33] and apply an analytic Ising parameterization for the order parameters which incorporates the up-to-date phase transition line from functional methods [30, 32]. The detailed parametrization is given in Ref. [33].

Following [33], the parameterization applies the phase transition line as:

$$T_c(\mu_B) = T_c(0) \left[ 1 - \kappa_B \left( \frac{3\mu_{u,d}}{T_c(0)} \right)^2 \right], \qquad (4.9)$$

with  $\kappa_B = 0.016$ ,  $T_c(0) = 155$  MeV. The CEP is found to be located at

$$(T_{\text{CEP}}, \mu_{\text{CEP}})_{u,d} = (118, 200) \,\text{MeV}\,.$$
 (4.10)

Note that the CEP in Eq. (4.10) corresponds to a significantly larger chemical potential than the previously applied RL truncation [10, 29].

On top of this, the order parameter for the deconfinement is also included in the new EoS. After computing the number density  $n(T, \mu)$  for the u/d, s, and c quarks, the entropy density can be expressed as the integral along the chemical potential as

$$\delta s(T,\mu) = s(T,\mu) - s(T,\mu=0) = \int_0^\mu d\mu' \,\frac{\partial n(T,\mu')}{\partial T}.$$
(4.11)

The full entropy at finite chemical potential is given after incorporating the lattice QCD computation at zero chemical potential with  $N_f = 2 + 1 + 1$  (i.e. *udsc*) as parametrized in Ref. [95], and can be expressed as

$$s_{\text{QCD}} = s_{\text{latt}}(T, \mu = 0) + \delta s(T, \mu).$$
 (4.12)

Though the analytical form of the here applied Ising parameterization involves an additional zero momentum approximation for the quark propagator (compared to a direct computation from functional methods), this new method is extremely convenient for theoretical studies of heavy-ion-collisions [33] or cosmology as in this work. In [33], it was shown that this new method applied to hydrodynamics successfully describes experimental observables like collective flow, particle yields, and particle ratios.

Following the approach outlined above, the number and entropy densities for the u, d, s and c quark were calculated and tabulated on a grid of T and  $\mu_i$  (i = u, d, s, c) values, thereby covering the range  $50 \le T \le 500$  MeV (in 1 MeV steps) and  $0 \le \mu \le 1000$  MeV (in 1 MeV steps).

## 4.2.2 Impact on cosmic trajectories

We extended the C code of [10] (itself being a modified version of [7–9]) in order to include the tabulated thermodynamic quantities described in the previous subsection. The resulting cosmic trajectories are presented in Fig. 3 (solid lines), along with the trajectories derived from the two former methods described in sec. 4.1. As apparent from Fig. 3, the new method allows extending the calculation of the cosmic trajectory to smaller temperatures than the old functional QCD based method. Furthermore, the new method reproduces the general behavior of the trajectories as expected at low temperatures, namely  $\mu_B$  becoming independent of  $Y_L$  and approaching the value of a nucleon mass (see [7]). We conclude that the agreement with the HRG approximation has *significantly* improved.

Since the new (here applied) method [33] predicts the location of the CEP to be at larger values of the u/d chemical potential than the previously applied RL truncation [29] – namely ( $\mu_{u/d}, T$ ) = (200, 118) MeV against previously ( $\mu_{u/d}, T$ ) = (111, 125) MeV– on general grounds we also expect this new method to require larger lepton flavor asymmetries for a firstorder cosmic QCD transition than the one reported in [10]. In other words, the values in tab. 1 of [10] are somewhat underestimated. In the next section, we update the required lepton flavor asymmetries for some of the benchmark scenarios of Tab. 1 in [10].

Let make a concluding remark on the advantages and disadvantages of the functional QCD based method in comparison to the lattice QCD based method. While with the improved

truncation scheme, the functional QCD based method now shows the same generic features in the cosmic trajectory as the lattice QCD based method [8, 9], there are still differences between both methods in Fig. 3. This immediately raises the question of which method is more reliable. For relatively low values of the lepton asymmetries (i.e. for low chemical potentials), where lattice QCD is expected to be exact (within error bars), we certainly advise the use of the QCD based method. The clear disadvantage of this method is however its restriction to low chemical potentials and in particular its limitations to describe a first-order QCD transition at all. While the very existence of a CEP in the QCD phase diagram will only be certain once experimentally confirmed, functional QCD methods generically predict the existence of a CEP and we believe that they are the most reliable tool to consistently describe QCD matter over a large range of temperature and chemical potential. Therefore, when being particularly interested in the phenomenon of a first-order QCD transition, we believe that the functional QCD based method is the best option we have at the moment.

# 4.3 Scan of lepton flavor asymmetries inducing a first-order cosmic QCD transition

As discussed in sec. 3, we focus on scenarios with possibly large  $Y_{L_{\mu}}$  and  $Y_{L_{\tau}}$  but vanishing  $Y_{L_{e}}$ . Applying the improved functional QCD method described in sec. 4.2, we now want to address the question of which values of  $Y_{L_{\mu}}$  and  $Y_{L_{\tau}}$  we can expect a first order cosmic QCD transition. On general grounds, we expect that a first-order transition happens when the chemical potential of the u and/or d quark become larger than  $\mu_{CEP}$  at  $T_{CEP}$ , i.e. when

$$|\mu_{u/d}| \ge 200 \,\mathrm{MeV} \qquad (\mathrm{at} \, T = 118 \,\mathrm{MeV}) \,.$$

$$(4.13)$$

Note that in principle the c and s quark can also experience a first-order phase transition but as their CEP is located at the larger chemical potential this only happens for even larger lepton flavor asymmetries  $Y_{L_{\alpha}}$ .

We implemented Eq. (4.13) (at the equality) as an additional equation on top of the conservation laws in Eqs. (4.1)-(4.3) into our C code. This reduces the number of degrees of freedom of the system of equations by one. To be more specific, in general only two of the  $Y_{L_{\alpha}}$  are now free input parameters while the third one is obtained as a solution to Eqs. (4.1)-(4.3) and (4.13). Keeping  $Y_{L_e} = 0$  fixed, we therefore vary  $Y_{L_{\mu}}$  and numerically solve Eqs. (4.1)-(4.3) for T = 118 MeV together with Eq. (4.13), obtaining thereby solutions for  $Y_{L_{\tau}}$ . Using the solution as an adaptive guess for the next  $Y_{L_{\mu}}$  value speeds up the computation time of the scan significantly. It turns out that  $|\mu_u|$  is always slightly larger than  $|\mu_d|$ , such that Eq. (4.13) for the u quark is a sufficient criterion for a first-order transition. The result of our scan for  $(Y_{L_{\mu}}, Y_{L_{\tau}})$ -values is presented as the red lines in Fig. 4. We will discuss in the next section 4.4 why this line should only be understood as an estimate. In particular, we found that in some cases already slightly smaller values induce a first-order transition. The general behavior of the line in the regions of either  $(Y_{L_{\mu}}, Y_{L_{\tau}}) > 0$  (II) or  $(Y_{L_{\mu}}, Y_{L_{\tau}}) < 0$  (IV) is relatively easy to understand: For a larger  $Y_{L_{\mu}}$  a smaller  $Y_{L_{\tau}}$  is already sufficient to induce a



**Figure 4**: Combinations of  $Y_{L_{\tau}}$ - and  $Y_{L_{\mu}}$ -values which induce a first-order cosmic QCD transition (shaded regions). The blue line marks the benchmark region (Eq. (4.14)) which also leads to successful baryogenesis assuming an entropy dilution of  $\Delta = 18$ . Note that no numerical solutions were found for the borders without solid red lines.

first-order transition, and vice versa. The figure also shows that in general  $Y_{L_{\mu}}$  is more efficient in inducing a first-order transition than  $Y_{L_{\tau}}$ : For  $Y_{L_{\mu}} = 0$  a value of  $|Y_L| = |Y_{L_{\tau}}| \gtrsim 1.2$  is required while for  $Y_{L_{\tau}} = 0$  a value of  $|Y_L| = |Y_{L_{\mu}}| \gtrsim 0.3$  is already sufficient. For the regions  $(Y_{L_{\mu}} > 0, Y_{L_{\tau}} < 0)$  (III) and  $(Y_{L_{\mu}} < 0, Y_{L_{\tau}} > 0)$  (I), it even turns out that a larger  $Y_{L_{\tau}}$ cannot compensate a small  $Y_{L_{\mu}}$  any longer if  $|Y_{L_{\mu}}| \lesssim 0.2$ . Note that in general the cosmic trajectories in the regions I and III are less monotonic than the trajectories in the regions II and IV. This is because not only the individual lepton flavor asymmetries  $Y_{L_{\alpha}}$  matter but also the total lepton asymmetry  $Y_L$ . In particular, it has been shown in [9] that at high temperatures (when the ultra-relativistic limit applies) the quark chemical potentials become independent of the individual  $Y_{L_{\alpha}}$  and only depend on the total asymmetry  $Y_L$ <sup>6</sup>. Since in regions II and IV enhancing  $|Y_{L_{\mu}}|$  at fixed  $Y_{L_{\tau}}$  (and vice versa) always implies enhancing  $Y_L$ , it also directly implies enhancing the quark chemical potentials. The same does however not hold in the regions I and III, where one also has to regard the value of the total lepton asymmetry  $Y_L$ . It is therefore not surprising that the shaded region in Fig. 4 for regions I and III is not symmetric to regions II and IV.

A comparison of our scan with the results of sec. 3 shows that certain combinations of  $Y_{L_{\mu}}$  and  $Y_{L_{\tau}}$  values not only lead to the observed value of the baryon asymmetry but also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Hence, the case of  $Y_{L\mu} = -Y_{L\tau}$  e.g. is only able to induce a first-order transition due to the non-trivial impact of the quark masses.

induce a first-order cosmic QCD transition. We highlight a combination of  $(Y_{L_{\mu}}, Y_{L_{\tau}})$  by the blue line in Fig. 4 and refer to them as our benchmark scenarios for the rest of this work. The analytical expression for this benchmark line is

$$Y_{L_{\tau}} = -0.11 - 0.86 \cdot Y_{L_{\mu}} \tag{4.14}$$

and we expect first-order transitions for  $Y_{L_{\mu}} \lesssim -0.23$ .

Last but not least, let us compare the findings of the scan described in this section with some of the values reported in Tab. 1 of [10] based on the RL truncation. In particular, scenario (ii) with  $(Y_{L_e=0}, Y_{L_{\mu}} = -Y_{L_{\tau}})$  was reported to require  $Y_{L_{\mu}} > 7.4 \times 10^{-2}$  whereas the scan in Fig. 2 finds  $Y_{L_{\mu}} > 2.0 \times 10^{-1}$ . Another scenario of interest (though not represented by Fig. 2) may be one of equal lepton flavor asymmetries, i.e.  $Y_{L_e} = Y_{L_{\mu}} = Y_{L_{\tau}} = \frac{Y_L}{3}$ : The method based on the RL truncation found  $Y_L > 1.1 \times 10^{-1}$  [29] in contrast to  $Y_L > 3.5 \times 10^{-1}$ from the improved method applied in this work. As discussed in sec. 4.2, this underestimation (in both cases by a factor of ~ 3) by [10] is due to the smaller chemical potential of the CEP when applying the RL truncation.

# 4.4 Lensing effect of QCD critical end point

In this section, we elaborate on an interesting feature of the cosmic trajectories, namely the bending of trajectories towards the CEP when passing through its vicinity. This phenomenon is known as the *critical lensing or focussing effect of QCD* and has been reported in the context of heavy-ion collisions [96–98]. In Fig. 5 we show several cross-over trajectories in the  $(\mu_u, T)$ plane with different values of  $Y_{L\mu}$  and  $Y_{L\tau}$ . The values of  $Y_{L\mu}$  and  $Y_{L\tau}$  are chosen such that they are an extension of our benchmark line in Eq. (4.14) into the cross-over region. Since the CEP behaves as an attractor, we indeed observe how the trajectories get deformed into the direction of the CEP for increasing values of  $Y_{L\mu}$ .

The same behavior is also the reason why our code is currently not capable of calculating first-order transition trajectories in the CEP region. As explained e.g. in [96–98], since the trajectories merge towards the CEP, the density of trajectories with different values of  $Y_{L_{\mu}}$  (and  $Y_{L_{\tau}}$ ) passing through the same region is expected to be very high near the CEP. Resolution of the different trajectories in the CEP region would therefore require extremely high numerical precision and in particular a very fine spacing of  $\mu_{u,d}$  in the numerical tables described in sec. 4.2.1. The authors of [97] e.g. assumed a grid size of  $\Delta \mu_{u,d} = 0.1 \text{ MeV}^7$ , in contrast to  $\Delta \mu_{u,d} = 1 \text{ MeV}$  as in our work. For the same reason, the first-order transition line we found from the scan in sec. 4.3 should rather be understood as an estimate. For a restricted temperature range of 110 < T < 125 MeV we have decreased the temperature spacing in the numerical tables described in sec. 4.2.1 to  $\Delta T = 0.1 \text{ MeV}$ , which helped to get somewhat closer to the CEP region; in fact, the trajectory with  $Y_{L_{\mu}} = -0.22$  in Fig. 5 has been calculated with this reduced  $\Delta T$  (dashed lines) which helped to somewhat extend the temperature range where solutions can be found. However, as we show in the next section,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>private communication.



**Figure 5**: Lensing effect of QCD: Cosmic trajectories with different values of  $Y_{L_{\mu}}$  and  $Y_{L_{\tau}}$  (chosen along our benchmark line in Eq. (4.14)) get deformed towards the CEP. The dashed curve has been obtained with a finer temperature grid in the numerical tables described in sec. 4.2.1.

for first-order transition trajectories the real limitation is not the temperature spacing  $\Delta T$ (which does not really enhance the numerical precision of our calculation but only helps with the adaptive guesses for the solutions) but the spacing in the chemical potential  $\Delta \mu_{u,d}$ . While reducing  $\Delta \mu_{u,d}$  in our numerical tables (sec. 4.2.1) is in principle possible, it goes beyond the scope of this work due to the related raise in computation time to produce the numerical tables described in sec. 4.2.1. However, in the next section, we demonstrate how we can estimate the GW spectrum expected from a first-order transition and how this can be related to values of  $Y_{L_{\mu}}$  and  $Y_{L_{\tau}}$ .

# 5 Gravitational waves

A cosmological first-order phase transition can provide a stochastic gravitational wave background that can be observable today [99–105]. The possibility of a first-order QCD transition is a key motivation behind the  $\mu$ -Ares proposal [106], which will deploy three interferometers at the Lagrange points of the orbit of the Earth around the sun. In Ref. [28], we pointed out how such a signal can potentially arise from a strong cosmological first-order QCD phase transition. There are few scenarios in which the QCD transition can be made first order, though as mentioned previously, the possible catalyst of a large lepton asymmetry has been known for over a decade [7, 8]. The gravitational wave spectrum from a first-order transition has three contributions. A collision term due to the colliding scalar shells, an acoustic term due to the sound waves, and a turbulence term. It is generally accepted that the acoustic term dominates [107], which we will corresponding assume in the following.

#### 5.1 Basic expressions of the gravitational wave spectrum

An accurate gravitational wave spectrum from a first-order transition requires a simulation. A reasonable approximation can be made from a semi-analytic model known as the sound shell model [108, 109] – where the gravitational wave spectrum is approximated by an incoherent superposition of the contribution of many individual sound shells. Here, the sound shell refers to the plasma shell that is the part of the plasma driven from equilibrium wherein the majority of the energy released in the phase transition is dumped into. The result of the sound shells is a gravitational power spectrum, whose peak wave number corresponds to the mean bubble separation. As gravitons are very weakly interacting, the spectrum has no further evolution after its formation apart from redshifting like radiation. We can therefore measure the abundance,  $\Omega_{\rm GW}$  of gravitational radiation as a function of frequency, f, and infer that we have a well-preserved photograph of an event in the early Universe. The spectrum we would see today, assuming the sound shell model, has a parameter-independent shape which goes as  $f^{-4}$  in the UV,  $f^3$  (from causality) in the infrared, and has a brief plateau in between. The position of this plateau/peak in the frequency/amplitude plane are the only two observables,  $[108-111]^{8}$  The spectrum depends upon the bubble wall velocity  $v_w$ , the duration of the transition  $\beta^{-1}$  and the average fluid velocity  $\bar{U}_f$ , which reads [108–111]:

$$h^{2}\Omega_{\rm GW} = 1.2 \times 10^{-6} \left(\frac{100}{g_{*}(T_{*})}\right)^{1/3} \Gamma^{2} \bar{U}_{f}^{4} \left[\frac{H_{s}}{\beta(v_{w})}\right] v_{w} \times \Upsilon S_{\rm sw}(f),$$
(5.1)

where  $g_*$  is the relativistic degrees of freedom,  $H_s$  is Hubble rate.  $\Upsilon$  accounts for the fact that the lifetime of the soundwaves,  $\tau_{sw}$ , is finite. For radiation domination, we have

$$\Upsilon = 1 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + 2\tau_{\rm sw}H_s}}.\tag{5.2}$$

The adiabatic index is given by  $\Gamma \sim 4/3$ , and the root mean squared (RMS) fluid velocity is determined by the PT strength  $\alpha$ ,  $\bar{U}_f^2 \sim \frac{3}{4} \kappa_f(\alpha) \alpha$  and here we set as

$$\bar{U}_f^2 = \frac{3}{4} \frac{\kappa \alpha}{1+\alpha},\tag{5.3}$$

with PT strength  $\alpha = \theta / \rho_{\rm rad}$  where  $\theta \equiv \Delta p - \frac{1}{4}(T\Delta s + \mu_q \Delta n)$  is the trace anomaly with  $(\Delta p, \Delta s, \Delta n)$  the pressure, entropy, and density differences between the phases respectively and  $\rho_{\rm rad}$  is the radiation energy density defined as  $\rho_{\rm rad} = \pi^2 / 30g_*T_*^4$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Simulations suggest a doubly broken power law due to there being a second scale in the problem - the thickness of the sound shell [112]. Since modeling of this effect currently does not exist, we ignore this effect and use the standard analytic fits.



Figure 6: The minimum value of  $\alpha$  as a function of the critical temperature, neglecting the contribution of the chemical potential to the energy density of the Universe.

The spectral form has the shape

$$S_{\rm sw}(f) = \left(\frac{f}{f_{\rm sw}}\right)^3 \left(\frac{7}{4 + 3(f/f_{\rm sw})^2}\right)^{7/2}$$
(5.4)

and the peak frequency is controlled by the temperature of the transition,  $T_*$ , the bubble wall velocity and the duration of the transition

$$f_{\rm sw} = 6.23 \times 10^{-6} \text{Hz} \frac{1}{v_w} \left(\frac{\beta}{H_s}\right) \left(\frac{T_*}{100 \text{GeV}}\right) \left(\frac{g_*}{100}\right)^{1/6}$$
 (5.5)

#### 5.2 Gravitational wave spectrum and detection prospects

Calculating the thermal parameters  $\beta$  and  $v_w$  is quite challenging, as it is difficult to get the thermodynamic potential non-perturbatively as in the QCD phase transition. However, the current development based on the functional QCD approaches has made it possible to access the equation of state of QCD in the whole plane of temperature and chemical potential as mentioned above. The trace anomaly can be then extracted from the EoS as:

$$\theta = \Delta p - T_c \frac{1}{4} \Delta s - \mu_q \frac{1}{4} \Delta n \ge \left( -T_c \frac{1}{4} \Delta s - \mu_q \frac{1}{4} \Delta n \right) \Big|_{T_c}.$$
(5.6)

Here  $T_c$  is the critical temperature at which the pressure difference between the phases vanishes,  $(\Delta p, \Delta s, \Delta n)$  are the pressure, entropy, and density differences between the phases



**Figure 7**: Cosmic trajectories around  $T_c$  in the  $(\mu_u, T)$ -plane (solid) and  $(\mu_d, T)$ -plane (dotted) for different values of  $Y_{L_{\mu}}$  along our benchmark line in Eq. (4.14).

respectively. We follow the above argument and assume the first-order phase transition to take place at approximately  $\Delta p = 0$  (implying percolation temperature  $T_* \sim T_c$ ), and the entropy and density differences  $(\Delta s, \Delta n)$  can be directly read off from the EoS at the two sides of the PT line. Using the method discussed in sec. 4.2.1, we can therefore calculate  $\alpha$  as a function of the critical temperature in the first- order phase transition region, which we plot in Fig. 6. Note that in our calculations of the trajectories, we assume to be near equilibrium. If there is a substantial amount of supercooling, this assumption breaks down. However, we expect the surface tension to be quite small and therefore there to be only a modest amount of supercooling, see Appendix. C. Hence, we can estimate the value of the trace anomaly from our calculation of the trajectories. For the range of values for  $\theta$  that we consider, the signal today has an approximate scaling of  $\Omega_{\rm GW}h^2 \sim 10^2 \theta^3 v_w/\beta^2$  (for details and exact expressions see [111]). Therefore, calculating  $\theta$  under the assumption of limited supercooling is a conservative estimate.

Under the assumption of no supercooling, the peak frequency of the GW spectrum will be controlled by the critical temperature  $T_c$ . As we explained in sec. 4.4, the exact prediction of  $T_c$  with our technique is at the moment not feasible due the high level of numerical precision required due to the lensing effect of QCD. Fig. 7 shows several first-order trajectories in the  $(\mu_{u/d}, T)$ -plane along our benchmark line in Eq. (4.14). All trajectories show a gap where



Figure 8: The minimum signal-to-noise ratio of a first-order QCD phase transition as a function of the critical temperature  $T_c$ . The gray and blue band corresponds to the cases of entropy dilution  $\Delta = 18$  and  $\Delta = 1$  (no entropy dilution), respectively. We restrict the phase transition time scale to be between  $10^{(2-4)}$ , which corresponds to  $T_c \in [109, 118]$  MeV, indicated by vertical red dashed lines.

our code does not manage to find solutions. From the discussion of sec. 4.4, we expect that within this temperature range, the trajectories merge towards the CEP resulting in a very high density of trajectories in that region. While it is not clear at which temperatures the individual trajectories would cross the phase transition line Eq. (4.9), it is immediately clear that this crossing happens within the temperature gap. The benchmark scenarios displayed in Fig. 7 therefore refer to transition temperatures within the range  $T_c = 109 - 118$  MeV,

$$Y_{L_{\mu}} \in [-0.23, -0.27] \Rightarrow T_c \in [109, 118] \,\mathrm{MeV}\,.$$
 (5.7)

Such a temperature range then yields the parameter  $\alpha$  as:

$$\alpha = [10^{-3}, 0.078], \tag{5.8}$$

Of course, in general, larger values of  $Y_{L_{\mu}}$  would lead to smaller values of  $T_c$ . We simply chose the values in Eq. (5.7) to have some reference values in the remainder of this work. As can be seen in Fig. 7 and as anticipated in sec. 4.3, for all scenarios we find slightly larger values for  $|\mu_u|$  than for  $|\mu_d|$ . The difference between  $|\mu_u|$  and  $|\mu_d|$  is however so small that – except for a very small range of  $(Y_{L_{\mu}}, Y_{L_{\tau}})$ -values – one can safely assume that if the *u* quark experiences a first-order transition the *d* quark experiences a first-order transition, too. This implies an



Figure 9: Gravitational wave spectra with thermal parameters  $(\alpha, v_w, T_c) = (0.1, 1, 0.12 \text{ GeV})$  for different values of inverse transition timescales. We show the case of an entropy dilution of  $\Delta = 18$  (top) and the case of no entropy dilution (bottom). The sensitivity of  $\mu$ Ares is only weakly sensitive to the timescale of the transition  $(\beta/H_s)$  for a reasonably typical range.

additional factor of 2 for the trace anomaly. We do note, however, that we are neglecting the chemical potential contribution to the energy density of the Universe when computing the parameter  $\alpha$ , which would reduce the size of the gravitational wave density as  $\alpha \propto 1/\rho_{\rm rad}$ . We expect this to be safe at the relevant temperature range, where  $\mu_{q,L_{\alpha},\nu_{\alpha}}/(2\pi T) \leq 1$ , and hence, the chemical potential contributes less than the temperature in the energy density.

Let us turn our attention to the remaining thermal parameters that determine the GW spectrum. The gravitational wave spectrum has a modest dependence on the bubble wall velocity. However, there is an indirect effect through the efficiency factor  $\kappa$  which can take on a different dependence on  $\alpha$  depending on how the wall velocity compares to the speed of sound. However, recent work seems to suggest that it is difficult to avoid a scenario where the wall velocity is supersonic [113]. This is a regime where the dependence on the wall velocity is very weak, so for simplicity, we take  $v_w = 1$ . There is, unfortunately, no good guess for the timescale of the transition except to notice for first-order phase transitions  $10^2 \leq \beta/H_s \leq 10^4$  seems to be a reasonable phenomenologically motivated range [107]. To calculate the signal-to-noise (SNR) ratio of a hypothetical spectrum observed by  $\mu$ Ares, we use the data from [106] and note that

$$SNR = \sqrt{T \int_{f_{\min}}^{f_{\max}} \left(\frac{\Omega_{GW}(f)}{N(f)}\right)^2}$$
(5.9)

where N(f) is the noise function of the detector and T is the lifetime of an experiment which we take to be one year.

Surprisingly, the signal-to-noise ratio is relatively independent of  $\beta/H_s$  as seen in Fig. 8. This can be understood by noting that the peak sensitivity of  $\mu$ Ares is slightly higher than the frequency of the peak amplitude of the gravitational wave from a strong QCD transition. Shorter transitions have a smaller peak amplitude, which is compensated by the fact that the position of the peak moves closer to the peak sensitivity as shown in Fig. 9.

# 6 Conclusions

We have explored the scenario where substantially large lepton asymmetries can generate the observed baryon asymmetry of the Universe. By preventing the restoration of electroweak symmetry, these asymmetries effectively suppress the sphaleron rate, leading to a mechanism of baryogenesis via an exponentially suppressed rate of conversion from lepton to baryon asymmetry, termed sphaleron freeze-in. Contrary to previous perturbative method based estimates, our use of dimensional reduction techniques showed that the required lepton asymmetries for successful baryogenesis are an order of magnitude smaller than previously estimated.

A large lepton asymmetry can also induce a first-order cosmic QCD transition, a phenomenon accompanied by the potential emission of GWs. Although challenges remain, particularly regarding the precise location of the QCD critical endpoint, recent advancements in functional QCD and improved truncation schemes provide promising avenues for refining our understanding of these cosmic transitions. We identified a parameter range where  $Y_{L\mu}^{\rm ini} = -Y_{L\tau}^{\rm ini}$ , capable of triggering a first-order cosmic QCD transition, aligns with constraints from the CMB and BBN (constraining the lepton asymmetry at the CMB temperature, predominantly stored in the form of Dirac neutrino flavor asymmetries) without requiring entropy dilution. Nevertheless, achieving both successful baryogenesis and a first-order QCD transition necessitates minimal entropy dilution between the QCD transition and BBN epochs.

Given that the GW signal from a strong first-order transition is generally dominated by a contribution arising from sound waves, we used the sound shell model with the difference in the trace anomaly between the two phases extracted from the EoS of QCD to explore the potential GW signals. This demonstrated the potential for upcoming GW experiments, such as  $\mu$ Ares, to probe and potentially validate the sphaleron freeze-in paradigm. Decreasing the transition time relative to the Hubble time reduces the maximum gravitational wave (GW) amplitude while simultaneously raising the peak frequency, bringing the spectrum nearer to the optimal sensitivity range of  $\mu$ Ares.

Addressing fundamental questions about the magnitude of lepton asymmetry required for successful baryogenesis, the conditions for inducing a first-order cosmic QCD transition, and the GW signals from such events, our study contributes to a comprehensive framework to explore the large lepton asymmetry. Further insight into the surface tension of bubbles within the hadronic phase would be pivotal for further enhancing predictions for GW signals from the QCD transition.

# Acknowledgments

FG is supported by the National Science Foundation of China under Grants No. 12305134. JH acknowledges support from the Cluster of Excellence "Precision Physics, Fundamental Interactions, and Structure of Matter" (PRISMA<sup>+</sup> EXC 2118/1) funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) within the German Excellence Strategy (Project No. 390831469). CH acknowledges support from the CDEIGENT grant No. CIDEIG/2022/16 (funded by Generalitat Valenciana under Plan Gen-T), and from the Spanish grants PID2020-113775GB-I00 (AEI/10.13039/501100011033) and Prometeo CIPROM/2021/054 (Generalitat Valenciana). JH and CH also acknowledge support from the Emmy Noether grant "Baryogenesis, Dark Matter and Neutrinos: Comprehensive analyses and accurate methods in particle cosmology" (HA 8555/1-1, Project No. 400234416) funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation). YL is supported by the National Science Foundation of China under Grants No. 12175007 and No. 12247107. IMO acknowledges support by Fonds de la recherche scientifique (FRS-FNRS).

# Appendix

# A Effective potential at finite chemical potential

In this appendix, we present the main relations and expressions useful for studying the full 4-dimensional electroweak theory at a finite lepton number density using a 3-dimensional effective theory. The presence of a finite fermion number density, on one hand new corrections arise in the renormalization of the fields and parameters upon integrating out the heavy modes, as compared to the case of vanishing chemical potentials. On the other hand, new terms arise in the dimensionally reduced effective theory due to the reduction of symmetries in the original 4-dimensional theory in the presence of finite chemical potentials.

We will denote the coefficients of the terms present already for vanishing chemical potential by the subscript  $\mu = 0$ . The finite chemical potential corrected Debye masses are given by

$$m_D^2 = m_{D,\mu=0}^2 + \frac{g^2}{4\pi^2} \left( \mu_B^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{n_f} \mu_{L_i}^2 \right), \tag{A.1}$$

$$m_D^{\prime 2} = m_{D,\mu=0}^{\prime 2} + \frac{g^{\prime 2}}{4\pi^2} \left( \frac{11}{9} \mu_B^2 + 3 \sum_{i=1}^{n_f} \mu_{L_i}^2 \right).$$
(A.2)

The zero chemical potential Debye masses are given by

$$m_{D,\mu=0}^2 = \left(\frac{2}{3} + \frac{N_s}{6} + \frac{n_F}{3}\right)g^2T^2, \qquad (A.3)$$

$$m_{D,\mu=0}^{\prime 2} = \left(\frac{N_s}{6} + \frac{5n_F}{9}\right) g^{\prime 2} T^2 , \qquad (A.4)$$

where  $n_F = 3$  is the number of families and  $N_s = 1$  is the number of Higgs doublets.

The finite chemical potential corrected coupling coefficients for the terms already present for  $\mu = 0$  are given by

$$\lambda_3 = \lambda_{3,\mu=0} - \frac{3g_Y^2 T}{16\pi^2} \left(g_Y^2 - 2\lambda\right) \mathcal{A}\left(\frac{\mu_B}{3}\right),\tag{A.5}$$

$$h_{3} = h_{3,\mu=0} + \frac{g^{4}T}{192\pi^{2}} \left( 9\mathcal{A}\left(\frac{\mu_{B}}{3}\right) + \sum_{i=1}^{n_{f}} \mathcal{A}\left(\mu_{L_{i}}\right) \right),$$
(A.6)

$$g_3^2 = g_{3,\mu=0}^2 + \frac{g^4 T}{48\pi^2} \left( 9\mathcal{A}\left(\frac{\mu_B}{3}\right) + \sum_{i=1}^{n_f} \mathcal{A}\left(\mu_{L_i}\right) \right), \tag{A.7}$$

where

$$\mathcal{A}(\mu) = \psi\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{i\mu}{2\pi T}\right) + \psi\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{i\mu}{2\pi T}\right) + 2\gamma_E + 2\ln 4.$$
(A.8)

with  $\psi(z) \equiv \partial_z \ln \Gamma(z)$ . The corresponding vanishing chemical potential ( $\mu = 0$ ) coupling

coefficients are given by

$$\lambda_{3,\mu=0} = \lambda(\mu)T\left\{1 - \frac{3}{4}\frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \left[ \left(\frac{6}{h^2} - 6 + 2h^2\right)L_b + \left(4t^2 - 8\frac{t^4}{h^2}\right)L_f - \frac{4}{h^2} \right] \right\},\tag{A.9}$$

$$h_{3,\mu=0} = \frac{1}{4}g^2(\mu)T\left[1 + \frac{g}{16\pi^2}\left(\frac{44 - N_s}{6}L_b - \frac{4n_F}{3}L_f + \frac{33}{6} - \frac{N_s}{3} + \frac{4n_F}{3} + \frac{3}{2}h^2 - 3t^2\right)\right],$$
(A.10)

$$g_{3,\mu=0}^2 = g^2(\mu)T\left[1 + \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2}\left(\frac{44 - N_s}{6}L_b - \frac{4n_F}{3}L_f + \frac{2}{3}\right)\right],\tag{A.11}$$

where  $h \equiv m_H/m_W$  and  $t \equiv m_t/m_W$ , with  $m_H$ ,  $m_W$  and  $m_t$  denoting the physics Higgs, W-boson and top quark masses, respectively.

The scalar mass parameter in the presence of finite chemical potential is given by

$$m_3^2(\bar{\mu}) = m_{3,\mu=0}^2(\bar{\mu}) + \Delta m_3^2 \tag{A.12}$$

where the correction due to finite chemical potential is given by

$$\begin{split} \Delta m_3^2 &= \frac{g_Y^2(\bar{\mu})}{12\pi^2} \mu_B^2 - \frac{3g_Y^2}{16\pi^2} \left( \nu^2 - \frac{\lambda T^2}{2} - \frac{3g^2 T^2}{16} - \frac{g_Y^2 T^2}{4} \right) \mathcal{A} \left( \frac{\mu_B}{3} \right) + \frac{g_Y^2 \mu_B^2}{64\pi^4} \left[ \frac{3}{4} g^2 L_b(\bar{\mu}) - g_Y^2 \right] \\ & \times \left( L_f(\bar{\mu}) - \mathcal{A} \left( \frac{\mu_B}{3} \right) \right) \right] - \left[ \left( 9g_Y^4 + \frac{9}{2}g_Y^2 g^2 + 16g_Y^2 g_s^2 \right) \mathcal{A} \left( \frac{\mu_B}{3} \right) - \left( 9g_Y^4 + \frac{9}{4}g_Y^2 g^2 - 18\lambda g_Y^2 - 16g_Y^2 g_s^2 \right) \right] \\ & -18\lambda g_Y^2 - 16g_Y^2 g_s^2 - \frac{27}{4} g^4 \right) 16\mathcal{B} \left( \frac{\mu_B}{3} \right) \right] \frac{T^2}{128\pi^2} + \left( 9g_Y^4 + \frac{9}{4}g_Y^2 g^2 - 18\lambda g_Y^2 - 16g_Y^2 g_s^2 \right) \\ & -\frac{27}{4} g^4 \right) \frac{i\mu_B T}{48\pi^3} \ln \left( \frac{\Gamma \left( \frac{1}{2} - \frac{i\mu_B}{6\pi T} \right)}{\Gamma \left( \frac{1}{2} + \frac{i\mu_B}{6\pi T} \right)} \right) + \left[ 9g_Y^2 g^2 - 6 \left( 3g_Y^4 - 8g_Y^2 g_s^2 \right) L_b(\bar{\mu}) + 9g_Y^4 L_f(\bar{\mu}) \right] \\ & + \left( \frac{9}{2}g_Y^2 g^2 + 16g_Y^2 g_s^2 \right) (4\ln 2 - 1) + \left( 9g_Y^4 + \frac{9}{4}g_Y^2 g^2 - 18\lambda g_Y^2 - 16g_Y^2 g_s^2 - \frac{27}{4} g^4 \right) 4\gamma_E \\ & - \left( 9g_Y^4 + \frac{9}{2}g_Y^2 g^2 + 16g_Y^2 g_s^2 \right) \mathcal{A} \left( \frac{\mu_B}{3} \right) \right] \frac{\mu_B^2}{1152\pi^4} - \frac{3}{4}g^4 \sum_{i=1}^{n_f} \left[ \frac{T^2}{8\pi^2} \mathcal{B} \left( \mu_{L_i} \right) + \frac{i\mu_{L_i}T}{16\pi^3} \right] \\ & \times \ln \left( \frac{\Gamma \left( \frac{1}{2} - \frac{i\mu_{L_i}}{2\pi T} \right)}{\Gamma \left( \frac{1}{2} + \frac{i\mu_{L_i}}{2\pi T} \right)} \right) + \frac{\mu_{L_i}^2}{32\pi^4} \gamma_E \right] . \end{split}$$

The function  $\mathcal{B}(\mu)$  is defined as

$$\mathcal{B}(\mu) \equiv \zeta'\left(-1, \frac{1}{2} + \frac{i\mu}{2\pi T}\right) + \zeta'\left(-1, \frac{1}{2} - \frac{i\mu}{2\pi T}\right) - 2\zeta'\left(-1, \frac{1}{2}\right) \tag{A.14}$$

with  $\zeta(z,q)$  being the generalised zeta function and the functions  $L_b(\bar{\mu})$  and  $L_f(\bar{\mu})$  are given

by

$$L_b(\bar{\mu}) = \ln \frac{\bar{\mu}^2}{T^2} - 2\ln 4\pi + 2\gamma_E$$
 (A.15)

$$L_f(\bar{\mu}) = \ln \frac{\bar{\mu}^2}{T^2} - 2\ln \pi + 2\gamma_E.$$
 (A.16)

with  $\bar{\mu}$  denoting the renormalisation scale in the  $\bar{MS}$  scheme. The scalar mass parameter for zero chemical potential is given by

$$m_{3,\mu=0}^{2}(\bar{\mu}) = -\tilde{\nu}^{2} + T\left(\frac{1}{2}\lambda_{3} + \frac{3}{16}g_{3}^{2} + \frac{1}{16}g_{3}^{\prime 2} + \frac{1}{4}\tilde{g}_{Y}^{2}\right) + \frac{T^{2}}{16\pi^{2}}\left[g^{4}\left(\frac{137}{96} + \frac{3n_{F}}{2}\ln 2 + \frac{n_{F}}{12}\right) + \frac{3}{4}\lambda g^{2}\right] + \frac{1}{16\pi^{2}}\left(\frac{39}{16}g_{3}^{4} + 12h_{3}g_{3}^{2} - 6h_{3}^{2} + 9\lambda_{3}g_{3}^{2} - 12\lambda_{3}^{2}\right)\left(\ln\frac{3T}{\mu} + c\right),$$
(A.17)

with

$$\tilde{\nu}^{2} = \nu^{2}(\bar{\mu}) \left\{ 1 - \frac{3}{4} \frac{g^{2}}{16\pi^{2}} \left[ \left( h^{2} - 3 \right) L_{b} + 2t^{2} L_{f} \right] \right\},$$
(A.18)  

$$\tilde{g}_{Y}^{2} = T g_{Y}^{2}(\bar{\mu}) \left\{ 1 - \frac{3}{8} \frac{g^{2}}{16\pi^{2}} \left[ \left( 6t^{2} - 6 - \frac{64}{3}s^{2} \right) L_{f} + 2 + 28 \ln 2 - 12h^{2} \ln 2 + 8t^{2} \ln 2 - \frac{64}{9}s^{2} (4 \ln 2 - 3) \right] \right\}.$$
(A.19)

Here s is defined as  $s \equiv g_s/g$ . At the two-loop level (ignoring contributions of the order,  $g'^3 \sim g^{9/2}$ ) the coefficient of the new term arising due to finite potential is given by

$$\kappa_{1} = -\frac{i\pi}{3}g'T^{5/2} \left[ \left( 1 - \frac{9g^{2}}{64\pi^{2}} \right) \sum_{i=1}^{n_{f}} \frac{\mu_{L_{i}}}{\pi T} \left( 1 + \left(\frac{\mu_{L_{i}}}{\pi T}\right)^{2} \right) - \left( 1 - \frac{5g_{Y}^{2}}{32\pi^{2}} - \frac{9g^{2}}{64\pi^{2}} - \frac{g_{s}^{2}}{2\pi^{2}} \right) \frac{\mu_{B}}{\pi T} \left( 1 + \frac{1}{9} \left(\frac{\mu_{B}}{\pi T}\right)^{2} \right) \right].$$
(A.20)

We also take into account the running of all the coefficients by using one-loop

# **B** Entropy dilution

As we have discussed above, if we want the sphaleron freeze-in mechanism to produce the correct baryon asymmetry observed today, then to be consistent with the constraints from BBN the large  $[\mathcal{O}(1)]$  primordial lepton asymmetry should be diluted somewhere between the electroweak symmetry breaking and before the onset of neutrino oscillations (at around  $T \sim 10 \text{ MeV}$ ). It is important to stress that the entropy dilution is not necessary for a first-order QCD transition as discussed in the following section. Therefore, the entropy dilution can in principle occur after the electroweak symmetry breaking once the baryon asymmetry is generated and before the QCD phase transition, leading to the correct baryon asymmetry. Such an injection of entropy in the thermal bath can occur via a late-time decaying state.

The key feature for the late-time decaying state is that it should redshift like matter such that it can dominate the Universe's energy budget following radiation domination providing late-time matter domination [114]. Furthermore, such a state must decay mostly into the SM states in a thermal bath providing an era of late-time reheating. The decay rate of the late-time decaying state is governed by the mass of such state  $\Gamma_m$ , and the co-moving energy stored in such a state,  $\Phi_m \equiv \rho_m a^3$ , where a is the scale factor.

The energy of the universe can be separated into two contributions that are constant during purely adiabatic expansion; the contribution  $\Phi_m \equiv \rho_m a^3$  from the late-time decaying state, and the contribution from radiation,  $\Phi_R \equiv \rho_R a^4$ . The Hubble expansion rate is therefore

$$H = \frac{\dot{a}}{a} = \frac{1}{M_{\rm pl}} \sqrt{\frac{8\pi}{3} \left(\frac{\Phi_R}{a^4} + \frac{\Phi_m}{a^3}\right)},$$
(B.1)

where  $M_{\rm pl}$  is the Planck mass.

#### **B.1** Matter-radiation equality

Given how these two different densities scale, at some time  $t = t_{eq}$ , the matter and radiation energy densities would become equal. We will denote this by  $\rho_{m,eq} = \rho_{R,eq}$ , with  $\rho_{m,eq} \equiv \rho_m(t_{eq})$ ,  $\rho_{R,eq} \equiv \rho_R(t_{eq})$ . Note that we can always define the scale factor at  $t_{eq}$  to be  $a_{eq} \equiv 1$ , such that  $\Phi_{m,eq} = \Phi_{R,eq}$ . The temperature  $T_{eq}$  of the SM plasma at the time of matterradiation equality,  $t_{eq}$ , when  $\rho_{m,eq} = \rho_{R,eq}$ , is given by

$$T_{\rm eq} = \left(\frac{30\,\Phi_m}{\pi^2 g_*(T_{\rm eq})}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \approx 1.32 \left(\frac{\Phi_m}{g_*(T_{\rm eq})}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}},\tag{B.2}$$

where  $g_*(T)$  is the effective number of relativistic degrees of freedom (d.o.f.) in the SM at temperature T.

#### **B.2** Adiabatic matter domination

Following the start of domination of matter, there is potentially an adiabatic matter domination phase before the late-time decaying state decays in the bulk (leading to non-adiabatic matter domination at  $t_{\rm NA} = \Gamma_m^{-1}$ ). During this phase  $\Phi_m \simeq \Phi_{m,\rm eq} = \text{const}$ , which leads to

$$\Phi_R(a) = \Phi_{m,eq} + \frac{2}{5} \sqrt{\frac{3}{8\pi}} M_{pl} \Gamma_m \sqrt{\Phi_{m,eq}} \left( a^{\frac{5}{2}} - 1 \right).$$
(B.3)

#### **B.3** Non-adiabatic matter domination

Once the second term in (B.3) is comparable in size to  $\Phi_{m,eq}$ , the evolution enters a nonadiabatic phase. We equate the two terms to define this transition temperature,  $T_{NA}$ . For  $a_{\rm NA} \gg a_{\rm eq} = 1$ , this is given by

$$T_{\rm NA} = T_{\rm eq} \left(\frac{g_*(T_{\rm eq})}{g_*(T_{\rm NA})}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \left(\frac{2}{5}\sqrt{\frac{3}{8\pi}}\frac{M_{pl}\Gamma_m}{\sqrt{\Phi_{m,i}}}\right)^{\frac{2}{5}} \approx 0.59 \left(\frac{g_*^{\frac{1}{4}}(T_{\rm eq})}{g_*(T_{\rm NA})}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \left(M_{pl}\Gamma_m\Phi_{m,i}^{\frac{1}{8}}\right)^{\frac{2}{5}}, \quad (B.4)$$

where we used that up to this point the evolution is adiabatic, and therefore  $g_*(T_{eq})T_{eq}^3 a_{eq}^3 = g_*(T_{NA})T_{NA}^3 a_{NA}^3$ .

#### B.4 Reheating

Once the late-time decaying state decays away in bulk at temperature  $T_d$ , the Hubble expansion takes over at around  $\Gamma_m \sim H$ , and adiabatic expansion resumes. This transition happens at the decay temperature of the late-time decaying state  $T_d$  and defines the reheat temperature of the universe [115],

$$T_{d} \equiv T_{\rm RH} = \left(\frac{90}{8\pi^{3}g_{*}(T_{\rm RH})}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \sqrt{\Gamma_{m}M_{pl}} \approx 0.78g_{*}^{-\frac{1}{4}}(T_{\rm RH})\sqrt{\Gamma_{m}M_{pl}}.$$
 (B.5)

#### B.5 Entropy dilution of asymmetry

In the event of a late-time decay and reheating as described above, any frozen-out lepton or baryon asymmetry decoupled from the SM plasma (such that there is no longer an efficient energy transfer between the SM and the decoupled asymmetry, even though a chemical equilibrium is still maintained) undergoes a dilution. This is because the late-time decaying field decays dominantly into the thermal bath SM particles (still in equilibrium), and then the entropy dumped into the SM plasma by the late-time decaying state will lead to an entropy dilution of the decoupled species. We stress that in the definition of the lepton asymmetry abundance  $Y_L \equiv n_L - n_{\bar{L}}/s$ , s corresponds to the entropy of the thermal bath (This is not to be confused with the separately conserved entropy of the decoupled lepton asymmetry abundance  $s_L$ , which scales with the decoupled temperature (due to a non-efficient energy transfer between the SM and the decoupled asymmetry) of the frozen out abundance.). Therefore, if the thermal bath undergoes reheating due to a late-time decay of heavy states then the thermal bath temperature and consequently also the thermal bath entropy will change leading to a dilution of any frozen-out asymmetry.

In our case such a dilution should occur at quite late times after the electroweak phase transition and before the onset of neutrino oscillations (at around  $T \sim 10$  MeV).

We can define the entropy dilution factor  $\Delta$  as

$$Y_L \equiv \frac{1}{\Delta} Y_L^{\Delta_s}.\tag{B.6}$$

Here the left-hand side represents the lepton asymmetry abundance in the presence of the entropy production due to the decay of a late-time decaying state. The abundance of the lepton asymmetry on the right-hand side represents the case without the entropy production. Now, there are two possible cases of interest depending on when the lepton asymmetry freezeout temperature  $(T_{\rm fo})$ : (a)  $T_{\rm fo} > T_{\rm eq} > T_{\rm RH}$  and (b)  $T_{\rm eq} > T_{\rm fo} > T_{\rm RH}$ ; for which we provide approximate solutions below.

In case (a), assuming that the lepton asymmetry is already decoupled from the SM plasma when matter domination begins at  $T_{eq}$ , the entropy dilution after the reheating of the SM plasma is given by

$$\Delta = (Y_L)^{-1} Y_L^{\Delta_s} \simeq \left(\frac{s}{\rho}\right)_{\rm RH} \left(\frac{\rho}{n_{\Delta L}}\right)_{eq} \left(\frac{n_{\Delta L}}{s}\right)_{\rm eq} \simeq T_{\rm eq}/T_{\rm RH}$$
(B.7)

where we use  $Y_L^{\Delta_s} \simeq (Y_L)_{eq}$  assume that most of the late-time decaying state decays around  $T_{\text{RH}}$ . We note that the subscript to the parentheses denotes the relevant time where the quantity in the parentheses is to be evaluated.

In case (b) the lepton asymmetry decouples from the thermal equilibrium when the latetime decaying state is dominating the energy budget of the Universe. In this case, we need to know the dependence of the lepton asymmetry density on the Hubble parameter at the decoupling of the lepton asymmetry. Since the decoupling takes place when the rates of all the lepton number violating (LNV) processes become comparable to the expansion rate

$$n_{\Delta L,fo} \sim \frac{H_{fo}}{\langle \sigma v \rangle_{\rm LNV}}.$$
 (B.8)

The entropy dilution in this scenario can be estimated as

$$\Delta = (Y_L)^{-1} Y_L^{\Delta_s} \simeq \left(\frac{s}{\rho}\right)_{\rm RH} \left(\frac{\rho}{n_{\Delta L}}\right)_{\rm fo} \left(\frac{n_{\Delta L}}{s}\right)_{\rm fo}^{\Delta_s} \simeq \frac{T_{\rm fo}^{\Delta_s}}{T_{\rm RH}} \left(\frac{H_{\rm fo}}{H_{\rm fo}^{\Delta_s}}\right), \tag{B.9}$$

where we have used  $(\rho)_{\rm fo} = H_{\rm fo}^2 M_{pl}^2$ ,  $(n_{\Delta L})_{\not\Delta s} \sim H_{\rm fo}^{\not\Delta s} / \langle \sigma v \rangle_{\rm LNV}$ ,  $(s)_{\not\Delta s} \sim (H_{\rm fo}^{\not\Delta s})^2 M_{pl}^2 / T_{\rm fo}$ .

In the case when  $T_{\rm fo} > T_{\rm NA}$  ( $T_{\rm NA}$  corresponds to the temperature when the new radiation from the decaying late time state starts to dominate over the preexisting radiation component of the Universe) we have

$$\Delta \sim \frac{T_{\rm NA}^{5/2} T_{\rm fo}^{3/2}}{T_{\rm RH}^3 T_{\rm fo}^{\Delta_s}} \sim \frac{T_{\rm eq}^{1/2} T_{\rm fo}^{3/2}}{T_{\rm RH} T_{\rm fo}^{\Delta_s}},\tag{B.10}$$

where we have used  $H_{\rm fo} \propto T_{\rm NA}^{5/2} T_{\rm RH}^{-2} T_{\rm fo}^{3/2}$ , with  $T_{\rm eq} \sim T_{\rm NA}^5 / T_{\rm RH}^4$  and  $H_{\rm fo}^{\Delta_s} \propto (T_{\rm fo}^{\Delta_s})^2$ .

On the other hand, for the case  $T_{\rm fo} < T_{\rm NA}$  we have

$$\Delta \sim \frac{T_{\rm fo}^4}{T_{\rm RH}^3 T_{\rm fo}^{\Delta_s}}.\tag{B.11}$$

#### C Note on equilibrium

QCD transitions are calculated assuming one has an infinite amount of time, to make the problem tractable. This means that the system always has enough to equilibrate and the nucleation temperature is the same as the critical temperature - that is the highest temperature at which it is energetically favorable to change the ground state of the system. In the case of a scalar field theory, the potential is double-welled at the critical temperature and if the system was given enough time to equilibrate, the transition would happen at the critical temperature. Note that the value of the potential in each minimum is the value of the pressure in each phase. So the pressure difference vanishes at the critical temperature. In practice, the system cools until the nucleation rate grows large enough compared to the expansion rate of the Universe such that there is at least one critical-size bubble per Hubble volume. In the case of QCD, we have no scalar potential. However, the critical temperature is still defined as the moment when the pressure difference vanishes. If the pressure difference vanishes, there is no change in the yield because there is no vacuum energy converting to a dump of particles in the plasma. So if it is a good approximation that the phase transition occurs near the critical temperature, it is a good approximation that we are always in thermal equilibrium as the change in the yield will be small. So it is worth discerning how much supercooling there is likely to be. There is no equivalent for the bounce action in QCD, but we can rely on classical nucleation theory for insight. Classical nucleation theory gives identical results to the full scalar theory in the thin wall approximation, which is valid at or near the critical temperature. Consider the energy of a bubble

$$E = -\frac{4\pi}{3}R^3\Delta p + 4\pi R^2\sigma \tag{C.1}$$

where  $\Delta p$  is the pressure difference and  $\sigma$  is the surface tension between the phases. Such a bubble has an extrema at  $R = 2\sigma/\Delta p$ . Below this critical radius, the bubble collapses under the surface tension, above it the pressure wins and the bubble expands. Since it is exponentially costly to nucleate a bubble, the phase transition is dominated by bubbles infinitesimally larger than the critical radius. The nucleation rate in classical nucleation theory is set by

$$\Gamma \sim e^{-E_C/T} \sim e^{-\frac{16\pi\sigma^3}{3\delta p^2 T}} .$$
(C.2)

The pressure difference grows as we supercool below the critical temperature. How much we supercool will depend on the surface tension as this will determine when we nucleate. For the sake of illustration, suppose the pressure difference scales as

$$\Delta p \sim \delta g_* \Delta T^4 \tag{C.3}$$

where  $\Delta T$  is  $T_C - T_*$  aka the amount of temperature we have supercooled below the critical temperature and  $g_* \sim 40$  is the change in the relativistic d.o.f due to the phase transition.

Next suppose the surface tension scales as,

$$\sigma \sim \epsilon T_C^3$$
 . (C.4)

For our lowest value of the critical temperature, we consider that  $\sigma \sim 5 \text{fm}^{-2}$  MeV implying  $\epsilon \sim 10^{-3}$ [116]. The nucleation temperature is when  $E_C/T \sim 140$  which gives  $\Delta T/T \sim 3\%$  supercooling. This is enough to give a boost to our estimate in the gravitational waves, but this is unlikely to make a large change in the yield.

Let us conclude by addressing a potential point of confusion. Electroweak baryogenesis requires a departure from equilibrium which is usually taken as being equivalent to demanding a first order electroweak phase transition. So how can we say that we have a limited departure from equilibrium if we have a first order QCD transition? In electroweak baryogenesis, we set up a Boltzmann equation for the baryon number which require the following hierarchy of scales

$$\tau_{\rm sph, \ broken} \ll \tau_{\rm PT} \ll (\tau_{sph,symm}, \tau_{CPV})$$
 (C.5)

If we did not have the first hierarchy, the sphalerons inside the bubble would wash out the baryon asymmetry. So baryogenesis always requires some minimal amount of supercooling and therefore some amount of departure from equilibrium.

#### D Matching Standard Model parameters to observables

We use SARAH [66] to calculate the evolution of running couplings matched at the Z pole. Note that our conventions differ from SARAH's in that the Higgs quartic is rescaled by a factor of 2 and the U(1) hypercharge gauge coupling constant is rescaled by a factor of  $\sqrt{5/3}$ . Our effective potential and the RGEs we use are only functions of the most numerically important couplings  $\lambda, \mu^2, g_i, y_t$  whose values at the Z-pole we give in Tab. 1.

A recent work [67] gave multiloop matching at the Z pole for the couplings we are interested in and we follow their analysis here. Special attention is given to the top mass due to the slow convergence of perturbation theory - both the Yukawa coupling and the strong coupling are O(1). The relationship between the top mass and the top Yukawa considering only QCD corrections is known to four loops [117]

$$M_t = \frac{y_t(m_t)v}{\sqrt{2}} \left(1 + 0.4244\alpha_s + 0.8345\alpha_s^2 + 2.37\alpha_s^3 + (8.615 \pm 0.017)\alpha_s^4\right) . \tag{D.1}$$

Here the mass on the left-hand side,  $M_t$ , is the pole mass for the top. Throughout we will capitalize pole masses. However, this is insufficient to match as the 1 loop non-QCD corrections become numerically important for the large values of the scale we consider in this work. The full self-energy of the top at one loop can be written as [68]

$$\frac{1}{2}y_t^2 v^2 = M_t^2 \left( 1 + 2\text{Re} \left( \Sigma_v(M_t^2) + \Sigma_s(M_t^2) \right) \right)$$
(D.2)

Parameter	Value
$\lambda$	0.13947 [68]
$\mu^2 ~({\rm GeV})$	-8434 [ <mark>68</mark> ]
$g_1$	0.357254 [67]
$g_2$	$0.651 \ [67]$
$g_3$	1.2104 [ <b>67</b> ]
$y_t$	0.95367 [ <mark>67</mark> ]

**Table 1**: Central value of parameters with references referring to the methods used to derive the values in question.

where

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{v}(M_{t}^{2}) + \Sigma_{s}(M_{t}^{2}) &= \frac{3}{16} \frac{g_{2}^{2}}{(4\pi)^{2}} \left( -2 - 4\frac{1}{h^{2}} - 2h^{2} - \frac{256}{9}s^{2} + 2t^{2} + 16\frac{t^{4}}{h^{2}} \right. \\ &\quad - \frac{2}{27} \left( 39 - \frac{64}{z^{2}} + 25z^{2} + 18\frac{z^{4} - 1}{h^{2}} \right) \\ &\quad + \left( 4h^{2} - \frac{8}{3}t^{2} + \frac{4}{3}t^{2}\frac{2t^{2} + h^{2}}{t^{2} - h^{2}} \right) \ln(h) - \frac{8}{9} \left( -9\frac{z^{4}}{h^{2}} + 4\frac{(4 - 5z^{2} + z^{4})}{t^{2} - z^{2}} \right) \ln(z) \\ &\quad + \left( \frac{128}{3}s^{2} - 32\frac{t^{4}}{h^{2}} - \frac{4}{3}\frac{t^{2}(2t^{2} + h^{2})}{t^{2} - h^{2}} - \frac{32}{9}\frac{(z^{2} - 1)(t^{2} - 4)}{z^{2} - t^{2}} \right) \ln(t) \\ &\quad + \frac{2}{3} \left( 4t^{2} - h^{2} \right) F(M_{t}, M_{t}, M_{h}) + \frac{2}{3}\frac{(t^{2} + 2)(t^{2} - 1)}{t^{2}}F(M_{t}, M_{W}, 0) \\ &\quad - \frac{2}{27} \left( \frac{64 - 80z^{2} + 7z^{4}}{z^{2}} + \frac{32 - 40z^{2} + 17z^{4}}{t^{2}} \right) F(M_{t}, M_{t}, M_{Z}) \\ &\quad + \left[ 2 \left( -6\frac{1}{h^{2}} - h^{2} - \frac{32}{3}s^{2} + t^{2} + 8\frac{t^{4}}{h^{2}} \right) \\ &\quad - \frac{4}{9}\frac{(z^{2} - 1)(9 + 4h^{2} + 9z^{2})}{h^{2}} \right] \ln\left(\frac{Q^{2}}{M_{W}^{2}}\right) \right) \\ &\quad - 64c_{6}\frac{M_{W}^{2}}{g_{0}^{4}} \left[ 1 - \ln\left(\frac{Q^{2}}{M_{h}^{2}} \right) \right] \right), \tag{D.3}$$

$$\frac{S}{g_0^2} = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} g_0^2 \left( -\frac{1}{72} - \frac{1}{24}h^2 + \frac{1}{9}N_f + \frac{1}{4}t^2 - 2\ln(t) + \frac{1}{12}(12 - 4h^2 + h^4)F(M_W, M_h, M_W) - \frac{(t^2 + 2)(t^2 - 1)}{2}F(M_W, M_t, 0) - \frac{33}{4}F(M_W, M_W, M_W) + \left(\frac{4}{3}N_f - \frac{43}{6}\right)\ln\left(\frac{Q^2}{M_W^2}\right) \right)$$
(D.4)

where  $\{h, t, z\} = \{M_h/M_W, M_t/M_W, M_Z/M_W\}$ , Q is the  $\overline{MS}$  RG scale, and the loop function,  $F(k, m_1, m_2)$ , is given in Ref. [27]. An accurate calculation requires we can extract the relationship between the observed top mass and the Yukawa including at least 1 loop correction for everything but QCD to which we go to four loops (as shown in ref [67]). For the top

mass, we take a central value of the top quark to be  $172.4\pm0.7$  GeV.

For the gauge couplings, we use the parameters derived in Ref. [67] whose 2 loop matching derives from refs. [118, 119].

For the Higgs sector parameters, we follow Ref. [68]

$$\mu_h^2 = -\frac{1}{2} M_h^2 \left( 1 + \frac{\text{Re}\Pi_h(M_h^2)}{M_h^2} \right)$$
(D.5)

$$\lambda = \frac{1}{8}g_2^2 \frac{M_h^2}{M_W^2} \left( 1 + \frac{\text{Re}\Pi_h(M_h^2)}{M_h^2} - \frac{\text{Re}\Pi_W(M_W^2)}{M_W^2} \right)$$
(D.6)

where the self-energies are given by

$$\begin{aligned} \Pi_{h}(M_{h}^{2}) &= \frac{3}{8} \frac{g_{0}^{2} M_{h}^{2}}{(4\pi)^{2}} \left( -\frac{4}{3} - 8\frac{1}{h^{2}} - 2h^{2} + 16\frac{t^{4}}{h^{2}} - \frac{2}{3}z^{2} - 4\frac{z^{4}}{h^{2}} \right. \\ &+ 3h^{2} F(M_{h}, M_{h}, M_{h}) + 4t^{2} \left( 1 - 4\frac{t^{2}}{h^{2}} \right) F(M_{h}, M_{t}, M_{t}) \\ &+ \frac{2}{3} \frac{h^{4} - 4h^{2} + 12}{h^{2}} F(M_{h}, M_{W}, M_{W}) \\ &+ \left( \frac{1}{3}\frac{1}{h^{2}} - \frac{4}{3}z^{2} + 4\frac{z^{4}}{h^{2}} \right) F(M_{h}, M_{Z}, M_{Z}) \\ &- 2h^{2} \ln(h) - 8t^{2} \ln(t) + \left( -\frac{2}{3}h^{2} + 4z^{2} \right) \ln(z) \\ &+ \left( -4 + 2h^{2} + 4t^{2} - 2z^{2} \right) \ln\left( \frac{Q^{2}}{M_{W}^{2}} \right) \\ &+ 64c_{6}\frac{M_{W}^{2}}{g_{0}^{4}h^{4}} \left[ -2 + 12t^{4} - z^{4} + 3h^{4}F(M_{h}, M_{h}, M_{h}) - 6h^{4} \ln(h) \right. \\ &- 24t^{4} \ln(t) + 6z^{4} \ln(z) + \left( -2 + h^{4} + 4t^{4} - z^{4} \right) \ln\left( \frac{Q^{2}}{M_{W}^{2}} \right) \right] \\ &+ 3072c_{6}^{2}\frac{M_{W}^{4}}{g_{0}^{6}h^{2}} \left[ -1 + F(M_{h}, M_{h}, M_{h}) \right] \right), \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \Pi_W(M_W^2) &= \frac{3}{8} \frac{g_0^2 M_W^2}{(4\pi)^2} \left( -\frac{212}{9} - \frac{8}{3} \frac{1}{h^2} - \frac{22}{9} h^2 + \frac{4}{27} (40N_f - 17) - \frac{4}{3} t^2 + 16 \frac{t^4}{h^2} + \frac{14}{9} z^2 - \frac{4}{3} \frac{z^4}{h^2} \right. \\ &+ \frac{4h^2(h^2 - 2)}{h^2 - 1} \ln(h) - 8 \left( \frac{2}{3} - t^2 + 4 \frac{t^4}{h^2} \right) \ln(t) + 4 \left( 2 \frac{z^4}{h^2} - \frac{z^4 - 4z^2 - 8}{z^2 - 1} \right) \ln(z) \\ &+ \frac{2}{9} \left( 12 - 4h^2 + h^4 \right) F(M_W, M_h, M_W) - \frac{4}{3} (t^2 + 2) (t^2 - 1) F(M_W, M_t, 0) \\ &- \frac{32}{3} \frac{z^2 - 1}{z^2} F(M_W, M_W, 0) + \frac{2}{9} \frac{(z^4 + 20z^2 + 12)(z^2 - 4)}{z^2} F(M_W, M_W, M_Z) \\ &+ 2 \left[ -1 + \frac{2}{h^2} + \left( -\frac{59}{9} - 6 \frac{1}{h^2} - h^2 + \frac{16}{9} N_f - 2t^2 + 8 \frac{t^4}{h^2} \right) + z^2 - 2 \frac{z^4}{h^2} \right] \ln \left( \frac{Q^2}{M_W^2} \right) \\ &- \frac{8}{9} \pi i (4N_f - 3) - 64c_6 \frac{M_W^2}{g_0^4} \left[ 1 - \ln \left( \frac{Q^2}{M_h^2} \right) \right] \right), \end{aligned}$$

#### References

- V. Domcke, K. Kamada, K. Mukaida, K. Schmitz, and M. Yamada, "A new constraint on primordial lepton flavour asymmetries," arXiv:2208.03237 [hep-ph].
- [2] M. Stuke, D. J. Schwarz, and G. Starkman, "WIMP abundance and lepton (flavour) asymmetry," JCAP 03 (2012) 040, arXiv:1111.3954 [astro-ph.CO].
- [3] J. McDonald, "Naturally large cosmological neutrino asymmetries in the MSSM," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 84 (2000) 4798-4801, arXiv:hep-ph/9908300.
- [4] J. March-Russell, H. Murayama, and A. Riotto, "The Small observed baryon asymmetry from a large lepton asymmetry," *JHEP* 11 (1999) 015, arXiv:hep-ph/9908396.
- [5] G. Barenboim and W.-I. Park, "A full picture of large lepton number asymmetries of the Universe," JCAP 04 (2017) 048, arXiv:1703.08258 [hep-ph].
- [6] K. Zarembo, "Lepton asymmetry of the universe and charged quark gluon plasma," *Phys. Lett. B* 493 (2000) 375–379, arXiv:hep-ph/0008264.
- [7] D. J. Schwarz and M. Stuke, "Lepton asymmetry and the cosmic QCD transition," JCAP 11 (2009) 025, arXiv:0906.3434 [hep-ph]. [Erratum: JCAP 10, E01 (2010)].
- [8] M. M. Wygas, I. M. Oldengott, D. Bödeker, and D. J. Schwarz, "Cosmic QCD Epoch at Nonvanishing Lepton Asymmetry," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **121** (2018) no. 20, 201302, arXiv:1807.10815 [hep-ph].
- [9] M. M. Middeldorf-Wygas, I. M. Oldengott, D. Bödeker, and D. J. Schwarz, "Cosmic QCD transition for large lepton flavor asymmetries," *Phys. Rev. D* 105 (2022) no. 12, 123533, arXiv:2009.00036 [hep-ph].
- [10] F. Gao and I. M. Oldengott, "Cosmology Meets Functional QCD: First-Order Cosmic QCD Transition Induced by Large Lepton Asymmetries," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **128** (2022) no. 13, 131301, arXiv:2106.11991 [hep-ph].
- [11] D. Bodeker, F. Kühnel, I. M. Oldengott, and D. J. Schwarz, "Lepton Flavour Asymmetries and the Mass Spectrum of Primordial Black Holes," arXiv:2011.07283 [astro-ph.CO].
- [12] V. Vovchenko, B. B. Brandt, F. Cuteri, G. Endrődi, F. Hajkarim, and J. Schaffner-Bielich, "Pion Condensation in the Early Universe at Nonvanishing Lepton Flavor Asymmetry and Its Gravitational Wave Signatures," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **126** (2021) no. 1, 012701, arXiv:2009.02309 [hep-ph].
- F. Hajkarim, J. Schaffner-Bielich, S. Wystub, and M. M. Wygas, "Effects of the QCD Equation of State and Lepton Asymmetry on Primordial Gravitational Waves," *Phys. Rev. D* 99 (2019) no. 10, 103527, arXiv:1904.01046 [hep-ph].
- [14] X.-D. Shi and G. M. Fuller, "A New dark matter candidate: Nonthermal sterile neutrinos," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 82 (1999) 2832-2835, arXiv:astro-ph/9810076.
- [15] A. D. Dolgov, S. H. Hansen, S. Pastor, S. T. Petcov, G. G. Raffelt, and D. V. Semikoz, "Cosmological bounds on neutrino degeneracy improved by flavor oscillations," *Nucl. Phys. B* 632 (2002) 363–382, arXiv:hep-ph/0201287.
- [16] Y. Y. Wong, "Analytical treatment of neutrino asymmetry equilibration from flavor oscillations in the early universe," *Phys. Rev. D* 66 (2002) 025015, arXiv:hep-ph/0203180.

- [17] S. Pastor, T. Pinto, and G. G. Raffelt, "Relic density of neutrinos with primordial asymmetries," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **102** (2009) 241302, arXiv:0808.3137 [astro-ph].
- [18] G. Mangano, G. Miele, S. Pastor, O. Pisanti, and S. Sarikas, "Constraining the cosmic radiation density due to lepton number with Big Bang Nucleosynthesis," *JCAP* 03 (2011) 035, arXiv:1011.0916 [astro-ph.CO].
- [19] G. Mangano, G. Miele, S. Pastor, O. Pisanti, and S. Sarikas, "Updated BBN bounds on the cosmological lepton asymmetry for non-zero θ<sub>13</sub>," *Phys. Lett. B* **708** (2012) 1–5, arXiv:1110.4335 [hep-ph].
- [20] G. Barenboim, W. H. Kinney, and W.-I. Park, "Resurrection of large lepton number asymmetries from neutrino flavor oscillations," *Phys. Rev. D* 95 (2017) no. 4, 043506, arXiv:1609.01584 [hep-ph].
- [21] L. Johns, M. Mina, V. Cirigliano, M. W. Paris, and G. M. Fuller, "Neutrino flavor transformation in the lepton-asymmetric universe," *Phys. Rev.* D94 (2016) no. 8, 083505, arXiv:1608.01336 [hep-ph].
- [22] J. Froustey and C. Pitrou, "Primordial neutrino asymmetry evolution with full mean-field effects and collisions," JCAP 03 (2022) no. 03, 065, arXiv:2110.11889 [hep-ph].
- [23] G. Beaudet and P. Goret, "Leptonic Numbers and the Neutron to Proton Ratio in the Hot Bing Bang Model," Astron. Astrophys. 49 (1976) 415.
- [24] G. Steigman, "Primordial Nucleosynthesis in the Precision Cosmology Era," Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 57 (2007) 463-491, arXiv:0712.1100 [astro-ph].
- [25] J. Lesgourgues and S. Pastor, "Cosmological implications of a relic neutrino asymmetry," *Phys. Rev. D* 60 (1999) 103521, arXiv:hep-ph/9904411.
- [26] B. Bajc, A. Riotto, and G. Senjanovic, "Large lepton number of the universe and the fate of topological defects," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 81 (1998) 1355–1358, arXiv:hep-ph/9710415.
- [27] K. Kajantie, M. Laine, K. Rummukainen, and M. E. Shaposhnikov, "Generic rules for high temperature dimensional reduction and their application to the standard model," *Nucl. Phys.* B 458 (1996) 90–136, arXiv:hep-ph/9508379.
- [28] F. Gao, J. Harz, C. Hati, Y. Lu, I. M. Oldengott, and G. White, "Sphaleron freeze-in baryogenesis with gravitational waves from the QCD transition," arXiv:2309.00672 [hep-ph].
- [29] F. Gao, J. Chen, Y.-X. Liu, S.-X. Qin, C. D. Roberts, and S. M. Schmidt, "Phase diagram and thermal properties of strong-interaction matter," *Phys. Rev. D* 93 (2016) no. 9, 094019, arXiv:1507.00875 [nucl-th].
- [30] F. Gao and J. M. Pawlowski, "Chiral phase structure and critical end point in QCD," *Phys. Lett. B* 820 (2021) 136584, arXiv:2010.13705 [hep-ph].
- [31] P. J. Gunkel and C. S. Fischer, "Locating the critical endpoint of QCD: Mesonic backcoupling effects," *Phys. Rev. D* 104 (2021) no. 5, 054022, arXiv:2106.08356 [hep-ph].
- [32] W.-j. Fu, J. M. Pawlowski, and F. Rennecke, "QCD phase structure at finite temperature and density," *Phys. Rev. D* 101 (2020) no. 5, 054032, arXiv:1909.02991 [hep-ph].

- [33] Y. Lu, F. Gao, B.-C. Fu, H.-C. Song, and Y.-X. Liu, "Constructing the Equation of State of QCD in a functional QCD based scheme," arXiv:2310.16345 [hep-ph].
- [34] Planck Collaboration, N. Aghanim *et al.*, "Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters," arXiv:1807.06209 [astro-ph.CO].
- [35] J. A. Harvey and M. S. Turner, "Cosmological baryon and lepton number in the presence of electroweak fermion number violation," *Phys. Rev.* D42 (1990) 3344–3349.
- [36] I. M. Oldengott and D. J. Schwarz, "Improved constraints on lepton asymmetry from the cosmic microwave background," *EPL* **119** (2017) no. 2, 29001, arXiv:1706.01705 [astro-ph.CO].
- [37] C. Pitrou, A. Coc, J.-P. Uzan, and E. Vangioni, "Precision big bang nucleosynthesis with improved Helium-4 predictions," *Phys. Rept.* 754 (2018) 1–66, arXiv:1801.08023 [astro-ph.CO].
- [38] J. Froustey and C. Pitrou, "Constraints on primordial lepton asymmetries with full neutrino transport," arXiv:2405.06509 [hep-ph].
- [39] A. Matsumoto et al., "EMPRESS. VIII. A New Determination of Primordial He Abundance with Extremely Metal-poor Galaxies: A Suggestion of the Lepton Asymmetry and Implications for the Hubble Tension," Astrophys. J. 941 (2022) no. 2, 167, arXiv:2203.09617 [astro-ph.CO].
- [40] M. Escudero, A. Ibarra, and V. Maura, "Primordial Lepton Asymmetries in the Precision Cosmology Era: Current Status and Future Sensitivities from BBN and the CMB," arXiv:2208.03201 [hep-ph].
- [41] NANOGrav Collaboration, G. Agazie et al., "The NANOGrav 15 yr Data Set: Observations and Timing of 68 Millisecond Pulsars," Astrophys. J. Lett. 951 (2023) no. 1, L9, arXiv:2306.16217 [astro-ph.HE].
- [42] A.-K. Burns, T. M. P. Tait, and M. Valli, "Indications for a Nonzero Lepton Asymmetry from Extremely Metal-Poor Galaxies," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **130** (2023) no. 13, 131001, arXiv:2206.00693 [hep-ph].
- [43] M. Joyce and M. E. Shaposhnikov, "Primordial magnetic fields, right-handed electrons, and the Abelian anomaly," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **79** (1997) 1193–1196, arXiv:astro-ph/9703005.
- [44] A. D. Linde, "High Density and High Temperature Symmetry Behavior in Gauge Theories," *Phys. Rev. D* 14 (1976) 3345.
- [45] A. D. Linde, "Classical Yang-Mills Solutions, Condensation of W Mesons and Symmetry of Composition of Superdense Matter," *Phys. Lett. B* 86 (1979) 39–42.
- [46] T. Kugo and S. Uehara, "Conformal and Poincare Tensor Calculi in N = 1 Supergravity," Nucl. Phys. B 226 (1983) 49–92.
- [47] E. J. Ferrer, V. de la Incera, and A. E. Shabad, "Phase Transitions in the Electroweak Theory at Finite Temperature and Density," *Phys. Lett. B* 185 (1987) 407–411.
- [48] J. I. Kapusta, "Phase Diagram of Electroweak Theory," Phys. Rev. D 42 (1990) 919–925.
- [49] S. Y. Khlebnikov and M. E. Shaposhnikov, "Melting of the Higgs vacuum: Conserved numbers at high temperature," *Phys. Lett. B* 387 (1996) 817–822, arXiv:hep-ph/9607386.

- [50] M. Laine and M. E. Shaposhnikov, "A Remark on sphaleron erasure of baryon asymmetry," *Phys. Rev. D* 61 (2000) 117302, arXiv:hep-ph/9911473.
- [51] G. W. Anderson and L. J. Hall, "The Electroweak phase transition and baryogenesis," *Phys. Rev. D* 45 (1992) 2685–2698.
- [52] M. E. Carrington, "The Effective potential at finite temperature in the Standard Model," *Phys. Rev. D* 45 (1992) 2933–2944.
- [53] M. Dine, R. G. Leigh, P. Y. Huet, A. D. Linde, and D. A. Linde, "Towards the theory of the electroweak phase transition," *Phys. Rev. D* 46 (1992) 550–571, arXiv:hep-ph/9203203.
- [54] P. B. Arnold and O. Espinosa, "The Effective potential and first order phase transitions: Beyond leading-order," *Phys. Rev. D* 47 (1993) 3546, arXiv:hep-ph/9212235. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 50, 6662 (1994)].
- [55] Z. Fodor and A. Hebecker, "Finite temperature effective potential to order g\*\*4, lambda\*\*2 and the electroweak phase transition," *Nucl. Phys. B* 432 (1994) 127–146, arXiv:hep-ph/9403219.
- [56] J. McDonald, "Symmetry nonrestoration via order 10\*\*-10 B and L asymmetries," *Phys. Lett. B* 463 (1999) 225-229, arXiv:hep-ph/9907358.
- [57] B. Bajc and G. Senjanovic, "Large lepton number and high temperature symmetry breaking in MSSM," *Phys. Lett. B* 472 (2000) 373-381, arXiv:hep-ph/9907552.
- [58] A. D. Linde, "Infrared Problem in Thermodynamics of the Yang-Mills Gas," *Phys. Lett. B* 96 (1980) 289–292.
- [59] K. Kajantie, M. Laine, K. Rummukainen, and M. E. Shaposhnikov, "The Electroweak phase transition: A Nonperturbative analysis," *Nucl. Phys. B* 466 (1996) 189–258, arXiv:hep-lat/9510020.
- [60] K. Kajantie, M. Laine, K. Rummukainen, and M. E. Shaposhnikov, "Is there a hot electroweak phase transition at  $m_H \gtrsim m_W$ ?," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **77** (1996) 2887–2890, arXiv:hep-ph/9605288.
- [61] K. Kajantie, M. Laine, K. Rummukainen, and M. E. Shaposhnikov, "A Nonperturbative analysis of the finite T phase transition in SU(2) x U(1) electroweak theory," *Nucl. Phys. B* 493 (1997) 413-438, arXiv:hep-lat/9612006.
- [62] F. Karsch, T. Neuhaus, A. Patkos, and J. Rank, "Critical Higgs mass and temperature dependence of gauge boson masses in the SU(2) gauge Higgs model," *Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl.* 53 (1997) 623–625, arXiv:hep-lat/9608087.
- [63] M. Gurtler, E.-M. Ilgenfritz, and A. Schiller, "Where the electroweak phase transition ends," *Phys. Rev. D* 56 (1997) 3888–3895, arXiv:hep-lat/9704013.
- [64] A. Gynther, "Electroweak phase diagram at finite lepton number density," *Phys. Rev. D* 68 (2003) 016001, arXiv:hep-ph/0303019.
- [65] L. Carson, X. Li, L. D. McLerran, and R.-T. Wang, "Exact Computation of the Small Fluctuation Determinant Around a Sphaleron," *Phys. Rev. D* 42 (1990) 2127–2143.
- [66] F. Staub, "SARAH," arXiv:0806.0538 [hep-ph].

- [67] G.-y. Huang and S. Zhou, "Precise Values of Running Quark and Lepton Masses in the Standard Model," *Phys. Rev. D* 103 (2021) no. 1, 016010, arXiv:2009.04851 [hep-ph].
- [68] D. Croon, O. Gould, P. Schicho, T. V. I. Tenkanen, and G. White, "Theoretical uncertainties for cosmological first-order phase transitions," *JHEP* 04 (2021) 055, arXiv:2009.10080 [hep-ph].
- [69] O. Gould and T. V. I. Tenkanen, "On the perturbative expansion at high temperature and implications for cosmological phase transitions," *JHEP* 06 (2021) 069, arXiv:2104.04399 [hep-ph].
- [70] F. R. Klinkhamer and N. S. Manton, "A Saddle Point Solution in the Weinberg-Salam Theory," *Phys. Rev. D* 30 (1984) 2212.
- [71] I. Affleck and M. Dine, "A New Mechanism for Baryogenesis," Nucl. Phys. B 249 (1985) 361–380.
- [72] A. Casas, W. Y. Cheng, and G. Gelmini, "Generation of large lepton asymmetries," Nucl. Phys. B 538 (1999) 297–308, arXiv:hep-ph/9709289.
- [73] D. H. Lyth and E. D. Stewart, "Thermal inflation and the moduli problem," *Phys. Rev. D* 53 (1996) 1784–1798, arXiv:hep-ph/9510204.
- [74] H. Davoudiasl, D. Hooper, and S. D. McDermott, "Inflatable Dark Matter," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 116 (2016) no. 3, 031303, arXiv:1507.08660 [hep-ph].
- [75] T. Moroi and L. Randall, "Wino cold dark matter from anomaly mediated SUSY breaking," Nucl. Phys. B 570 (2000) 455-472, arXiv:hep-ph/9906527.
- [76] T. Moroi, M. Yamaguchi, and T. Yanagida, "On the solution to the Polonyi problem with 0 (10-TeV) gravitino mass in supergravity," *Phys. Lett. B* 342 (1995) 105–110, arXiv:hep-ph/9409367.
- [77] T. Moroi and T. Takahashi, "Cosmic density perturbations from late decaying scalar condensations," *Phys. Rev. D* 66 (2002) 063501, arXiv:hep-ph/0206026.
- [78] A. B. Lahanas, "Dilaton dominance in the early Universe dilutes Dark Matter relic abundances," *Phys. Rev. D* 83 (2011) 103523, arXiv:1102.4277 [hep-ph].
- [79] M. Fujii and K. Hamaguchi, "Nonthermal dark matter via Affleck-Dine baryogenesis and its detection possibility," *Phys. Rev. D* 66 (2002) 083501, arXiv:hep-ph/0205044.
- [80] D. Binosi and J. Papavassiliou, "Pinch Technique: Theory and Applications," Phys. Rept. 479 (2009) 1–152, arXiv:0909.2536 [hep-ph].
- [81] C. D. Roberts and S. M. Schmidt, "Dyson-Schwinger equations: Density, temperature and continuum strong QCD," *Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys.* 45 (2000) S1-S103, arXiv:nucl-th/0005064 [nucl-th].
- [82] G. Eichmann, H. Sanchis-Alepuz, R. Williams, R. Alkofer, and C. S. Fischer, "Baryons as relativistic three-quark bound states," *Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys.* **91** (2016) 1–100, arXiv:1606.09602 [hep-ph].
- [83] C. S. Fischer, "QCD at finite temperature and chemical potential from Dyson-Schwinger equations," Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 105 (2019) 1-60, arXiv:1810.12938 [hep-ph].

- [84] J. M. Pawlowski, "Aspects of the functional renormalisation group," Annals Phys. 322 (2007) 2831-2915, arXiv:hep-th/0512261.
- [85] N. Dupuis, L. Canet, A. Eichhorn, W. Metzner, J. M. Pawlowski, M. Tissier, and N. Wschebor, "The nonperturbative functional renormalization group and its applications," *Phys. Rept.* **910** (2021) 1–114, arXiv:2006.04853 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [86] J. I. Kapusta and C. Gale, "Finite-temperature field theory: Principles and applications," *Cambridge University Press* (2011).
- [87] M. Laine and Y. Schroder, "Quark mass thresholds in QCD thermodynamics," *Phys. Rev.* D73 (2006) 085009, arXiv:hep-ph/0603048 [hep-ph].
- [88] M. Laine and M. Meyer, "Standard Model thermodynamics across the electroweak crossover," JCAP 1507 (2015) no. 07, 035, arXiv:1503.04935 [hep-ph].
- [89] A. Bazavov et al., "The melting and abundance of open charm hadrons," Phys. Lett. B737 (2014) 210-215, arXiv:1404.4043 [hep-lat].
- [90] S. Mukherjee, P. Petreczky, and S. Sharma, "Charm degrees of freedom in the quark gluon plasma," *Phys. Rev.* D93 (2016) no. 1, 014502, arXiv:1509.08887 [hep-lat].
- [91] P. Isserstedt, M. Buballa, C. S. Fischer, and P. J. Gunkel, "Baryon number fluctuations in the QCD phase diagram from Dyson-Schwinger equations," *Phys. Rev.* D100 (2019) no. 7, 074011, arXiv:1906.11644 [hep-ph].
- [92] S. Borsanyi, Z. Fodor, J. N. Guenther, R. Kara, S. D. Katz, P. Parotto, A. Pasztor, C. Ratti, and K. K. Szabo, "QCD Crossover at Finite Chemical Potential from Lattice Simulations," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **125** (2020) no. 5, 052001, arXiv:2002.02821 [hep-lat].
- [93] HotQCD Collaboration, A. Bazavov et al., "Chiral crossover in QCD at zero and non-zero chemical potentials," Phys. Lett. B 795 (2019) 15-21, arXiv:1812.08235 [hep-lat].
- [94] P. Cea, L. Cosmai, and A. Papa, "Critical line of 2+1 flavor QCD," *Phys. Rev. D* 89 (2014) no. 7, 074512, arXiv:1403.0821 [hep-lat].
- [95] O. Philipsen, "The QCD equation of state from the lattice," Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 70 (2013) 55-107, arXiv:1207.5999 [hep-lat].
- [96] M. Asakawa, S. A. Bass, B. Muller, and C. Nonaka, "Transverse Velocity Dependence of the Proton-Antiproton Ratio as a Signature of the QCD Critical Point," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 101 (2008) 122302, arXiv:0803.2449 [nucl-th].
- [97] T. Dore, J. M. Karthein, I. Long, D. Mroczek, J. Noronha-Hostler, P. Parotto, C. Ratti, and Y. Yamauchi, "Critical lensing and kurtosis near a critical point in the QCD phase diagram in and out of equilibrium," *Phys. Rev. D* 106 (2022) no. 9, 094024, arXiv:2207.04086 [nucl-th].
- [98] C. Nonaka and M. Asakawa, "Hydrodynamical evolution near the QCD critical end point," *Phys. Rev. C* 71 (2005) 044904, arXiv:nucl-th/0410078.
- [99] J. Winicour, "Gravitational Radiation from Relativistic Phase Transitions," Astrophysical Journal 182 (1973) 919–934.
- [100] P. Athron, C. Balázs, A. Fowlie, L. Morris, and L. Wu, "Cosmological phase transitions: From

perturbative particle physics to gravitational waves," *Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys.* **135** (2024) 104094, arXiv:2305.02357 [hep-ph].

- [101] C. Caprini, R. Durrer, and X. Siemens, "Detection of gravitational waves from the QCD phase transition with pulsar timing arrays," *Phys. Rev. D* 82 (2010) 063511, arXiv:1007.1218 [astro-ph.CO].
- [102] NANOGrav Collaboration, Z. Arzoumanian *et al.*, "Searching for Gravitational Waves from Cosmological Phase Transitions with the NANOGrav 12.5-Year Dataset," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 127 (2021) no. 25, 251302, arXiv:2104.13930 [astro-ph.CO].
- [103] X. Xue *et al.*, "Constraining Cosmological Phase Transitions with the Parkes Pulsar Timing Array," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **127** (2021) no. 25, 251303, arXiv:2110.03096 [astro-ph.CO].
- [104] P. Di Bari, D. Marfatia, and Y.-L. Zhou, "Gravitational waves from first-order phase transitions in Majoron models of neutrino mass," *JHEP* 10 (2021) 193, arXiv:2106.00025 [hep-ph].
- [105] E. Madge, E. Morgante, C. Puchades-Ibáñez, N. Ramberg, W. Ratzinger, S. Schenk, and P. Schwaller, "Primordial gravitational waves in the nano-Hertz regime and PTA data towards solving the GW inverse problem," *JHEP* 10 (2023) 171, arXiv:2306.14856 [hep-ph].
- [106] A. Sesana et al., "Unveiling the gravitational universe at μ-Hz frequencies," Exper. Astron. 51 (2021) no. 3, 1333-1383, arXiv:1908.11391 [astro-ph.IM].
- [107] C. Caprini *et al.*, "Detecting gravitational waves from cosmological phase transitions with LISA: an update," *JCAP* 03 (2020) 024, arXiv:1910.13125 [astro-ph.CO].
- [108] M. Hindmarsh, S. J. Huber, K. Rummukainen, and D. J. Weir, "Numerical simulations of acoustically generated gravitational waves at a first order phase transition," *Phys. Rev. D* 92 (2015) no. 12, 123009, arXiv:1504.03291 [astro-ph.CO].
- [109] M. Hindmarsh, S. J. Huber, K. Rummukainen, and D. J. Weir, "Shape of the acoustic gravitational wave power spectrum from a first order phase transition," *Phys. Rev. D* 96 (2017) no. 10, 103520, arXiv:1704.05871 [astro-ph.CO]. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 101, 089902 (2020)].
- [110] M. Hindmarsh, S. J. Huber, K. Rummukainen, and D. J. Weir, "Gravitational waves from the sound of a first order phase transition," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **112** (2014) 041301, arXiv:1304.2433 [hep-ph].
- [111] H.-K. Guo, K. Sinha, D. Vagie, and G. White, "Phase Transitions in an Expanding Universe: Stochastic Gravitational Waves in Standard and Non-Standard Histories," JCAP 01 (2021) 001, arXiv:2007.08537 [hep-ph].
- [112] C. Gowling and M. Hindmarsh, "Observational prospects for phase transitions at LISA: Fisher matrix analysis," JCAP 10 (2021) 039, arXiv:2106.05984 [astro-ph.CO].
- [113] T. Krajewski, M. Lewicki, and M. Zych, "Bubble-wall velocity in local thermal equilibrium: hydrodynamical simulations vs analytical treatment," *JHEP* 05 (2024) 011, arXiv:2402.15408 [astro-ph.CO].
- [114] J. A. Evans, A. Ghalsasi, S. Gori, M. Tammaro, and J. Zupan, "Light Dark Matter from Entropy Dilution," JHEP 02 (2020) 151, arXiv:1910.06319 [hep-ph].

- [115] L. Kofman, A. D. Linde, and A. A. Starobinsky, "Towards the theory of reheating after inflation," *Phys. Rev. D* 56 (1997) 3258-3295, arXiv:hep-ph/9704452.
- [116] F. Gao and Y.-x. Liu, "Interface Effect in QCD Phase Transitions via Dyson-Schwinger Equation Approach," *Phys. Rev. D* 94 (2016) no. 9, 094030, arXiv:1609.08038 [hep-ph].
- [117] P. Marquard, A. V. Smirnov, V. A. Smirnov, M. Steinhauser, and D. Wellmann, "MS-on-shell quark mass relation up to four loops in QCD and a general SU(N) gauge group," *Phys. Rev.* D 94 (2016) no. 7, 074025, arXiv:1606.06754 [hep-ph].
- [118] G. Degrassi, P. Gambino, and P. P. Giardino, "The  $m_W m_Z$  interdependence in the Standard Model: a new scrutiny," *JHEP* 05 (2015) 154, arXiv:1411.7040 [hep-ph].
- [119] S. P. Martin, "Z-Boson Pole Mass at Two-Loop Order in the Pure MS Scheme," Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) no. 1, 014026, arXiv:1505.04833 [hep-ph].